
Thurrock: A place of opportunity, enterprise and excellence, where
individuals, communities and businesses flourish

Planning, Transport, Regeneration Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee

The meeting will be held at 7.00 pm on 29 July 2015

Committee Room 1, Civic Offices, New Road, Grays, Essex, RM17 6SL

Membership:

Councillors Brian Little (Chair), Martin Kerin (Vice-Chair), Robert Gledhill, 
Steve Liddiard and Peter Smith

Substitutes:

Councillors Russell Cherry, Garry Hague, Barry Johnson and Michael Stone

Agenda

Open to Public and Press

Page

1.  Apologies for Absence 

2.  Minutes 5 - 8

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Planning, 
Transport, Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting 
held on 4 March 2015.

3.  Items of Urgent Business

To receive additional items that the Chair is of the opinion should be 
considered as a matter of urgency, in accordance with Section 100B 
(4) (b) of the Local Government Act 1972.

4.  Declaration of Interests 

5.  Terms of Reference 9 - 10



6.  Thames Enterprise Park 11 - 90

7.  Grays South and Rail Station Regeneration 91 - 110

8.  Local Bus Services 111 - 120

9.  Work programme 121 - 122

Queries regarding this Agenda or notification of apologies:

Please contact Jessica Feeney, Senior Democratic Services Officer by sending an 
email to Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Agenda published on: 21 July 2015



Information for members of the public and councillors

Access to Information and Meetings

Members of the public can attend all meetings of the council and its committees and 
have the right to see the agenda, which will be published no later than 5 working days 
before the meeting, and minutes once they are published.

Recording of meetings

This meeting may be recorded for transmission and publication on the Council's 
website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is 
to be recorded.
Members of the public not wishing any speech or address to be recorded for 
publication to the Internet should contact Democratic Services to discuss any 
concerns.
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact Democratic Services at 
Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Guidelines on filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings

The council welcomes the filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings as a means of reporting on its proceedings because 
it helps to make the council more transparent and accountable to its local 
communities.
If you wish to film or photograph the proceedings of a meeting and have any special 
requirements or are intending to bring in large equipment please contact the 
Communications Team at CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk before the 
meeting. The Chair of the meeting will then be consulted and their agreement sought 
to any specific request made.
Where members of the public use a laptop, tablet device, smart phone or similar 
devices to use social media, make recordings or take photographs these devices 
must be set to ‘silent’ mode to avoid interrupting proceedings of the council or 
committee.
The use of flash photography or additional lighting may be allowed provided it has 
been discussed prior to the meeting and agreement reached to ensure that it will not 
disrupt proceedings.
The Chair of the meeting may terminate or suspend filming, photography, recording 
and use of social media if any of these activities, in their opinion, are disrupting 
proceedings at the meeting.

Page 1

mailto:Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk
mailto:CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk


Thurrock Council Wi-Fi

Wi-Fi is available throughout the Civic Offices. You can access Wi-Fi on your device 
by simply turning on the Wi-Fi on your laptop, Smartphone or tablet.

 You should connect to TBC-CIVIC

 Enter the password Thurrock to connect to/join the Wi-Fi network.

 A Terms & Conditions page should appear and you have to accept these before 
you can begin using Wi-Fi. Some devices require you to access your browser to 
bring up the Terms & Conditions page, which you must accept.

The ICT department can offer support for council owned devices only.

Evacuation Procedures

In the case of an emergency, you should evacuate the building using the nearest 
available exit and congregate at the assembly point at Kings Walk.

How to view this agenda on a tablet device

You can view the agenda on your iPad, Android Device or Blackberry 
Playbook with the free modern.gov app.

Members of the Council should ensure that their device is sufficiently charged, 
although a limited number of charging points will be available in Members Services.

To view any “exempt” information that may be included on the agenda for this 
meeting, Councillors should:

 Access the modern.gov app
 Enter your username and password

Page 2

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB


DECLARING INTERESTS FLOWCHART – QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF

Breaching those parts identified as a pecuniary interest is potentially a criminal offence

Helpful Reminders for Members

 Is your register of interests up to date? 
 In particular have you declared to the Monitoring Officer all disclosable pecuniary interests? 
 Have you checked the register to ensure that they have been recorded correctly? 

When should you declare an interest at a meeting?

 What matters are being discussed at the meeting? (including Council, Cabinet, 
Committees, Subs, Joint Committees and Joint Subs); or 

 If you are a Cabinet Member making decisions other than in Cabinet what matter is 
before you for single member decision?

Does the business to be transacted at the meeting 
 relate to; or 
 likely to affect 

any of your registered interests and in particular any of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests? 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests shall include your interests or those of:

 your spouse or civil partner’s
 a person you are living with as husband/ wife
 a person you are living with as if you were civil partners

where you are aware that this other person has the interest.

A detailed description of a disclosable pecuniary interest is included in the Members Code of Conduct at Chapter 7 of 
the Constitution. Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer about disclosable pecuniary interests.

What is a Non-Pecuniary interest? – this is an interest which is not pecuniary (as defined) but is nonetheless so  
significant that a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard to be so significant 
that it would materially impact upon your judgement of the public interest.

If the Interest is not entered in the register and is not the subject of a 
pending notification you must within 28 days notify the Monitoring Officer 
of the interest for inclusion in the register 

Unless you have received dispensation upon previous 
application from the Monitoring Officer, you must:
- Not participate or participate further in any discussion of 

the matter at a meeting; 
- Not participate in any vote or further vote taken at the 

meeting; and
- leave the room while the item is being considered/voted 

upon
If you are a Cabinet Member you may make arrangements for 
the matter to be dealt with by a third person but take no further 
steps

If the interest is not already in the register you must 
(unless the interest has been agreed by the Monitoring 

Officer to be sensitive) disclose the existence and nature 
of the interest to the meeting

Declare the nature and extent of your interest including enough 
detail to allow a member of the public to understand its nature

Non- pecuniaryPecuniary

You may participate and vote in the usual 
way but you should seek advice on 
Predetermination and Bias from the 

Monitoring Officer.

Page 3



Vision: Thurrock: A place of opportunity, enterprise and excellence, where individuals, 
communities and businesses flourish.

To achieve our vision, we have identified five strategic priorities:

1. Create a great place for learning and opportunity

 Ensure that every place of learning is rated “Good” or better

 Raise levels of aspiration and attainment so that residents can take advantage of 
local job opportunities

 Support families to give children the best possible start in life

2. Encourage and promote job creation and economic prosperity

 Promote Thurrock and encourage inward investment to enable and sustain growth

 Support business and develop the local skilled workforce they require

 Work with partners to secure improved infrastructure and built environment

3. Build pride, responsibility and respect 

 Create welcoming, safe, and resilient communities which value fairness

 Work in partnership with communities to help them take responsibility for shaping 
their quality of life 

 Empower residents through choice and independence to improve their health and 
well-being

4. Improve health and well-being

 Ensure people stay healthy longer, adding years to life and life to years 

 Reduce inequalities in health and well-being and safeguard the most vulnerable 
people with timely intervention and care accessed closer to home

 Enhance quality of life through improved housing, employment and opportunity

5. Promote and protect our clean and green environment 

 Enhance access to Thurrock's river frontage, cultural assets and leisure 
opportunities

 Promote Thurrock's natural environment and biodiversity 

 Inspire high quality design and standards in our buildings and public space

Page 4



Minutes of the Meeting of the Planning, Transport, Regeneration Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held on 4 March 2015 at 7.00 pm

Present: Councillors Sue Gray (Chair), Tom Kelly (Vice-Chair), 
Roy Jones and Martin Kerin

Apologies: Councillors Gerard Rice and Simon Wootton

In attendance: Matthew Essex, Head of Regeneration
Andrew Millard, Head of Planning & Growth
Sean Nethercott, Growth & Strategy Team Leader
Lisa Ricketts, Business Support Officer
Kenna-Victoria Martin, Senior Democratic Services Officer

Before the start of the Meeting, all present were advised that the meeting may be 
filmed and was being recorded, with the audio recording to be made available on 
the Council’s website.

23. Minutes 

The Minutes of Planning, Transport and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, held on 21 January 2015 were approved as a correct record.

24. Items of Urgent Business 

There were no urgent items of business.

25. Declaration of Interests 

There were no such declarations.

26. Economic Development Strategy Review and Delivery Update 

The Head of Regeneration introduced the report to the committee explaining 
that the Council was at the start of the process to update the Economic 
Development Strategy. The current strategy was adopted in 2008 and within 
the last seven years the Council had made significant progress on achieving 
the aim of the strategy. 

It was highlighted to Members that there were three main points within the 
strategy: 

 Employment, creating jobs for local people;
 Enabling factors which assist in maximising the opportunity for 

employment, while;
 Embedding the factors which generated benefits for the Local 

Community. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Officers informed Members that since 2008 the Council had been working 
with Partners and Stakeholders to bring forward growth within six hubs across 
the borough with good progress made in most. Particular highlights included 
the  relocation of the South Essex College campus into  Grays Town Centre 
and the development of High House Production Park in Purfleet which didn’t 
exist at the time the Strategy was adopted. 

Members thanked officers for giving them the opportunity to discuss the future 
of the strategy and enquired the following: 

 Education featured heavily within the strategy, how could officers 
ensure that schools were teaching the skills that could be 
transferred into the working environment; 

 There was concern that there was an aim within the strategy to 
build a further 18.500 homes within the borough and that this may 
have the potential to cause further congestion when accessing the 
M25 from the A13, what were Officers thoughts on this; 

 What the Grays Magistrates Court would be rented out as;

Officers answered the queries put forward by the Committee explaining the 
following:

 The Thurrock Learning Campus which was originally based at 
Woodview had been relocated into a new purpose built facility in 
Grays providing training in some of the potential growth sectors 
including creative and cultural and environmental 
technology/energy. It was further explained that there were 
schemes in place to encourage training and learning in workplace 
environments including a degree course in costume making being 
developed by the Royal Opera House (ROH), accredited by 
University of the Arts London and provided by South Essex College 
in the ROH’s new Costume workshop when it opens on High House 
Production Park later this year; 

 Officers agreed with Members that traffic congestion was a current 
issue and which was why it was within the Development Strategy, 
Members were notified that the Council had secured an allocation 
of  funding from the Government to widen the A13 which aims to 
start work next year. The packages of works already completed or 
planned at London Gateway, Grays and at Lakeside were also 
highlighted as examples of additional capacity being provided to 
support growth; 

 The Committee were informed that there was a lack of office space 
within Grays, the Magistrates Court was to be turned into business 
space with offices ranging from 100 sqft up to 1,200 sqft . Members 
were informed that the offices would be available to any business 
but, recognising Grays’ role, would be particularly attractive to 
existing and new businesses in business services.

Page 6



RESOLVED:

That the Planning, Transport and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee: 

1. Acknowledge progress on the Economic Development 
programme and projects that are being delivered in Thurrock.

2. Consider and propose areas of focus for Economic Development 
activity in Thurrock.

27. Lakeside Growth Hub 

The Head of Planning & Growth addressed the committee explaining the 
purpose of the presentation which was about to be put before them. 
During the presentation the following was highlighted: 

 The Shopping Centre itself was 23years old and has become an 
ambitious area thanks to its assets;

 Since the Thurrock Core Strategy was introduced in 2011, there 
had been a lot of commercial interest within the area including 
retail, homes and jobs. This strategy had now become part of the 
Thurrock Local Plan 2035;

 Officers notified Members that lakeside was the major shopping 
centre serving Thurrock and had unique qualities to the borough 
which were going to be included when turning to a Town Centre 
rather than being focused on as just an area for shopping;

 It was considered a key challenge to look at changing retail, 
economic and social trends, this was due to the rise of online 
shopping which impacted on investment decisions and shopping 
patterns. The growing competition to Lakeside’s established retail 
and leisure role within the borough and the need to improve visitor 
experience and attractiveness of Lakeside as a destination, this 
would include the need to improve access to and within the 
Lakeside;

 The accessibility to lakeside by car and other means of public 
transport. This would include keeping road capacity maintained and 
to improve local connection, with an increase of the choice of 
routes. There was the possibility of a network of bus and pedestrian 
routes and new transport interchange to encourage people to walk 
once inside the centre;

 The Council was working with Partners and Stakeholders, to bring 
forward growth developments to make Lakeside more people 
friendly. 

Members were notified that once the Local Plan was adopted officers would 
look to use funding and Section 106 monies for completing projects and 
completing delivery. 

Page 7



The Committee raised concern as the difficulty of residents getting in and out 
of Lakeside, however also praised the idea of having a shuttle bus or similar 
mode of transport operating once people had entered the centre. 

Officers explained that the main issue they were facing was that Lakeside was 
spread out; it was their idea that once inside people could walk from either 
side of the centre, in a hope to minimize the use of cars.  

RESOLVED:

That the Planning, Transport and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee note 
the content of this report and the presentation to Committee

28. Planning, Transport and Regeneration Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme 

Members were taken through the Work Programme and the reports that had 
been put before them over the municipal year. Members agreed the items to 
be allocated to the first meeting of the new municipal year.

RESOLVED:

That the work programme be agreed and noted.

The meeting finished at 8.15 pm

Approved as a true and correct record

CHAIR

DATE

Any queries regarding these Minutes, please contact
Democratic Services at Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Page 8

mailto:Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk


PLANNING, TRANSPORT, REGENERATION OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Appointed by:

The Council

Number of Elected Members:

Six, of whom none may be Cabinet Members.

Chair and Vice-Chair appointed 
by:

The Council

Political Proportionality:

The elected Members shall be appointed in accordance with 
Political Proportionality

Quorum:

Three elected Members

Co-opted Members to be appointed by Council:

None appointed

Functions determined by Council:

1. Regeneration and economic development 

2. Strategic and local development framework

3. Regional and local planning 

4. Growth and the provision of related infrastructure

5. Development control

6. Built heritage and the countryside

7. Provision, planning, management and performance of the Planning and Highways service, 
including transport 

8. Effective discharge of planning function including the proper function of the Planning 
Committee (Note: Planning decisions cannot be scrutinised)

Functions determined by Statute

All the powers of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee as set out in section 21 of the Local 
Government Act 2000 and Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



29 July 2015 ITEM: 6

Planning, Transport, Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Thames Enterprise Park

Wards and communities affected: 
Corringham and Fobbing

Key Decision: 
Non key

Report of: Sean Nethercott, Growth and Strategy Team Manager

Accountable Head of Service: Andy Millard, Head of Planning and Growth

Accountable Director: David Bull, Director of Planning and Transportation

Executive Summary

Following discussions with the owners of the former Coryton Oil Refinery and the 
Council it was agreed that a Masterplan should be prepared to guide the 
development of Thames Enterprise Park. The starting point for this work was the 
presentation of an outline vision for the development of Thames Enterprise Park at 
the Planning, Transport and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 
19th November 2013. This was followed in May 2014 by the preparation of a 
Masterplan Opportunities and Scoping Report which subsequently formed the basis 
of a report taken to the Cabinet on 2nd July 2014. At this meeting the Council 
resolved:

1. That the Joint Venture’s emerging vision for the Thames Enterprise Park site 
be endorsed.

2. That authority to the Planning, Transport and Regeneration Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to provide detailed input into the developing Masterplan, 
as required be delegated.

The Final Interim Masterplan now before the Commitee sets out the development 
strategy and planning considerations for creation of Thames Enterprise Park, a site 
comprising approximately 405 acres of previously developed land at the former 
Coryton refinery.

The Final Interim Masterplan notes the potential for energy and other environmental 
technology schemes that have clear synergies with the Thames Oilport operation on 
the adjacent former refinery complex, and existing energy-related facilities that are 
also present. A range of other uses, such as logistics, storage and distribution and 
complementary ancillary services, will also be considered appropriate, given the 
scale and location of the site, providing scope to both respond to market demand 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



and to create an attractive environment within which to invest and to work. Once 
completed Thames Enterprise Park will form one of the largest developments of its 
kind in Europe and provide a major boost to future growth and prosperity of the 
Borough and the wider Thames Gateway South Essex area.

1. Recommendation(s)

1.1 The Committee is invited to endorse the emerging Final Interim 
Masterplan for the Thames Enterprise Park.

2. Introduction and Background

2.1 Following the closure of the Petroplus Coryton Oil Refinery in June 2012 with 
the loss of over 700 jobs the site was acquired by a consortium comprising 
Vopak, Shell and Greenergy. The objective of the partners was to demolish 
the refinery, develop and invest in a fuel import and distribution terminal called 
Thames Oilport to be managed by Vopak, and to sell surplus land for 
development.  The ultimate redevelopment of the whole site could lead to the 
establishment of up to 2,000 new permanent jobs.  This objective will require 
good planning on the training and development of key people capabilities 
which has been supported through a workforce planning study jointly 
sponsored in 2014/15 by the Council and the joint venture with Energy & 
Utility Skills.

2.2 Following discussions with the site owners and the Council it was agreed that 
a Masterplan should be prepared to guide the future planning and 
development of Thames Enterprise Park. The starting point for this work was 
the presentation of an outline vision for the development of Thames 
Enterprise Park at the Planning,  Transport and Regeneration Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 19th November 2013. This was followed in May 2014 
by the preparation of a Masterplan Opportunities and Scoping Report which 
subsequently formed the basis of a report taken to the Cabinet on 2nd July 
2014. At this meeting the Council resolved:

1. That the Joint Venture’s emerging vision for the Thames Enterprise 
Park site be endorsed.

2. That authority to the Planning, Transport and Regeneration Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee to provide detailed input into the developing 
Masterplan, as required be delegated.

2.3 In November 2014 an Interim Masterplan and Sustainability Assessment, 
including associated technical reports, were submitted to the Council for 
consideration. These documents were then the subject of consultation with a 
range of stakeholder groups with the feedback received through this process 
being used to inform the refinement of the Final Interim Masterplan.

2.4 The Final Interim Masterplan sets out a development strategy and key 
planning considerations to guide the future development of Thames 

Page 12



Enterprise Park. The Masterplan sets out a vision for the overall development 
of Thames Enterprise Park, followed by seven key principles that further 
explain what the Masterplan and development as a whole are seeking to 
achieve. The overarching vision for Thames Enterprise Park is:

“To provide a framework of infrastructure – land, services, utilities, assets – to 
offer attractive opportunities for investment, business and development 
primarily within the energy and industrial sectors, including potential 
environmental technologies, that maximises the value of the location and its 
available facilities and the connectivity to surrounding businesses on Thames 
Enterprise Park, Thames Oilport and adjacent areas.” 

  2.5 In order to deliver the vision for Thames Enterprise Park, the Masterplan 
identifies the following strategic objectives, stated as key development 
“Principles” which will help guide the development of the site:

Principle 1 : The Design Concept: To provide a framework for development 
of Thames Enterprise Park in a manner which creates an environment that is 
attractive to inward investment, as a place to work, and enhances the visual 
appearance of the site;

Principle 2: The Use of Land and Mix of Uses: To offer guidance on 
appropriate land uses and scale of development and to provide an illustrative 
development framework for an identified range of primary uses compatible 
with the future Thames Oilport facility, and complementary ancillary support 
services, having regard to constraints associated with COMAH regulation 
restrictions;

Principle 3: Open Space, the Creek and Ecological Mitigation: to establish 
key principles and potential land areas for the provision, enhancement and 
management of open space and ecological resources, including a strategy for 
the future role of Shellhaven Creek as well as to protect and enhance 
landscape, ecology and heritage assets;

Principle 4: Employment, Learning and Skills: To create the right 
circumstances for reinstatement of the site as a major employment hub, with 
associated job opportunities for local people, and access to training and skills 
development to service the needs of key sectors specified in the developing 
Masterplan;

Principle 5: Access, Movement and Transport: To ensure that the 
developing Masterplan identifies a strategy for the future transportation 
infrastructure  of the area including provision of appropriate access 
arrangements in respect of highway capacity, whilst seeking to maximise 
advantages offered by the availability of multi-modal infrastructure and 
encourage sustainable modes of travel;

Principle 6: Sustainable Development: To ensure an appropriately 
balanced approach towards the achievement of sustainable development, 

Page 13



prioritising the delivery of jobs and economic regeneration, alongside 
consideration of social and environmental issues. 

Principle 7: Strategy: To assist the Local Planning Authority in the 
consideration and determination of future planning applications in the area, 
through the provision of a clear and usable guidance document. 

2.6 The Masterplan expands upon the vision for Thames Enterprise Park and 
provides guidance on the form that the development of the site for a range of 
commercial, energy and industrial uses could take consistent with the 
development principles identified above. Although the final mix of uses to be 
accommodated on site will in part reflect future market demand, it is intended 
that the site will be developed in the main for the following core uses:

 Renewable energy, such as solar and wind
 Energy from refuse derived fuels (RDF) and other waste feedstocks
 Power generation
 Combined heat and power (CHP) plants
 Fuel storage, processing and trading
 Energy supply chain and support activities
 Energy research and development centres
 Upstream waste processing to provide EfW feedstock on site
 Non-energy industrial production
 Logistics and storage (B8 Warehouse and Distribution)

2.7 In addition to these core uses, it is considered that a number of further 
ancillary uses would also be appropriate, subject to acceptable siting relative 
to the application of COMAH Regulations. Such uses could include facilities 
and services to meet the needs of a sizeable workforce, including food and 
drink outlets and restaurants, small scale convenience retail, or other support 
facilities such as vehicle servicing. Other compatible uses could also include 
office space as well as training and education facilities.  

3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

3.1 The emerging Masterplan has also been subject to a Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA) in order to assess and identify the high level economic, environmental 
and transport impacts arising from the future development of TEP. Reflecting 
this approach the SA process has identified a range of potential infrastructure 
requirements, mitigation measures and additional assessment work that could 
be undertaken either prior to the completion of the master-planning process or 
at the planning stage. Among the areas where there is a need for further work 
and agreement between the parties is the need for the landowner/developer 
to:

 Prepare an ecology mitigation and enhancement strategy to focus on 
Shellhaven Creek, Manorway Fleet Reedbed LWS, area to the north of 

Page 14



roundabout and scope to incorporate appropriate habitat and species 
planting  within a street hierarchy landscaping structure and SUDs;

 Maximise solar electricity generation and internal energy and heat capture 
across TEP;

 Training and skills development;

 Multi-modal freight strategy and other sustainable transport measures – 
including the river and rail for freight and public transport and cycling for 
employees;

 Potential highway mitigation measures – including the need for works to 
increase junction capacity or the re-phasing of signals towards the later 
phases of development along the Manorway;

 Air quality mitigation – including routing of deliveries to avoid AQMAs and 
the voluntary use of high Euro category HGVs;

 Noise mitigation associated with increased road traffic generation and on-
site processes;

 Landscaping strategy to recognise the openness of the site boundaries;

 Further archaeology and ground conditions assessments to inform the 
consideration of individual planning applications;

 Prepare a flood risk management strategy including the development of 
flood warning and evacuation plans and the progression of a site- wide 
SUDs strategy for surface water drainage;

 Ensure that further assessments against the Water Framework Directive is 
undertaken as necessary; and

 Review and update COMAH zones associated with the storage of 
hazardous substances.

3.2 It is important to note that the Masterplan itself is not intended to form part of 
the Statutory Development Plan for Thurrock, and will not be formally adopted 
as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). It is anticipated, however, 
that upon completion of the Masterplan it will represent a material 
consideration in the determination of future planning applications. It is also 
intended that the site will continue to be allocated for employment uses 
through the Local Plan review that is now underway and that the Interim 
Master Plan, and its associated background studies, will provide an important 
part of the evidence base for the Local Plan.

Page 15



3.3 Since acquisition of the site by the joint venture partners in September 2012 
work has focused on the “make safe“ and decommissioning of the refinery 
processing plant, the reconfiguration and refurbishment of the future Thames 
Oilport import terminal, and the demolition and clearance of redundant above 
ground infrastructure. Going forward it is anticipated that the development of 
Thames Enterprise Park will take place over many years on a phased basis 
with the redevelopment of the West Site (105 acres), which lies to the south 
west of the former oil refinery land and adjacent to the London Gateway port 
likely to come forward first (2015/16 onwards), with Phase 2 (refinery and 
central area) from 2017/18 onwards and Phase 3 (Eastern area) from 2019/20 
onwards.  A key consideration around this timetable is the ability to agree new 
permitting and/or surrender of the existing Part A1 environmental permit 
(originally required for the former refinery and crude oil storage operations) 
with the EA.

3.4 On the 25th June 2015 Vopak and its partners announced their intention to 
offer up for sale 403 acres of surplus industrial development land, making 
Thames Enterprise Park one of the largest strategic brownfield redevelopment 
sites around London. Against the backdrop of the site’s impending sale, it is 
therefore important that the Final Interim Masterplan is agreed and endorsed 
by the Council in order to ensure that the prospective owners and/or 
developers of Thames Enterprise Park have a clear understanding of the key 
planning, environmental and transport considerations that will need to be met 
in bringing forward the development of the site.

4. Reasons for Recommendation

4.1 To ensure the proper planning and development of the Thameside Enterprise 
Park.

5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

5.1 Due to the nature of this report no formal consultation has been undertaken 
by the Council.  However, the joint venture, supported by officers of the 
Council, has presented the Masterplan to a number of local community 
forums and local educational establishments.

6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

6.1 The future development of Thames Enterprise Park in accordance with the 
vision and principles set out in the Final Interim Master Plan is fully aligned 
with the adopted Thurrock Core Strategy and other key corporate strategies 
and priorities. The successful redevelopment of the site will have a significant 
impact in terms of future economic and employment growth.

7. Implications

Page 16



7.1 Financial

Implications verified by:  Mike Jones
Strategic Resources Accountant 

There are no financial implications associated with this Report

7.2 Legal

Implications verified by: Alison Stuart
Principal Solicitor

There are no legal implications associated with this Report

7.3 Diversity and Equality

Implications verified by: Becky Price
Community Development Officer

There are no diversity or equality implications associated with this Report

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

There are no other implications associated with this report.

8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

None

9. Appendices to the report

 Thames Enterprise Park Final Interim Masterplan May 2015

Report Author:

Sean Nethercott
Growth and Strategy Manager
Planning and Transportation

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



A hub of industrial and energy-related businesses…

Final Interim Masterplan • May 2015
Page 19



© The contents of this document must not be copied or reproduced in whole or in part without the written consent of Boyer Planning. All plans are 

reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Map with the permission of the Controller of HMSO. Crown Copyright Reserved. Licence Number AR100007250. All 

distances quoted are measured from the centre of the site (386815E, 253369N) as a straight line distance, unless otherwise stated. 

Project:	 Thames Enterprise Park 

Client:	 Thames Enterprise Park 

Job Number:	 13.646

Primary author:	 Matt Clarke		 	 Initialled:	 MC 

Review by:	 				   	 Initialled:	

Issue Date Status Checked for issue

1

2

Page 20



 

SUMMARY 

i Executive Summary 

This Final Interim Masterplan sets out the development strategy and planning considerations for 

creation of Thames Enterprise Park, a site comprising approximately 375 developable acres of 

previously developed land at the former Coryton refinery in the Borough of Thurrock.   

The site possesses substantial strategic and locational advantages and provides considerable 

opportunities commercially, for inward investment, job creation and the securing of sustainable 

development in line with relevant planning policies and guidance at national and local levels. 

The Final Interim Masterplan notes the potential for energy and other environmental technology 

schemes that have clear synergies with the Thames Oilport operation that is planned to be 

established on the former refinery complex, and existing energy-related facilities that are also 

present.  A range of other uses, such as logistics storage and distribution, and complementary 

ancillary services, will also be considered appropriate, given the scale and location of the site, 

providing scope to both respond to market demand and to create an attractive environment within 

which to invest and to work. 

This document sets out a vision for creation of Thames Enterprise Park and includes a series of 

guiding principles to be pursued within development proposals.  In addition to setting out relevant 

background to the site, covering consideration of planning policy context, the Final Interim 

Masterplan explains the process for further developing the vision, including the relationship with the 

ongoing Sustainability Assessment (SA) exercise.  In connection with this a wide range of 

organisations have been engaged. 

The Final Interim Masterplan sets out the approach that has been taken to key issues such as 

transport and access, potential development phasing, the implications of COMAH Regulations and 

initiatives aimed at supporting higher education and skills development.  The proposed indicative 

structure and layout of the scheme is also presented, building upon development scenarios that are 

also discussed and which have been used for the purpose of informing the SA process. 

A Masterplan Opportunities and Scoping Report was submitted to Thurrock Council in May 2014 

and formed the basis of a report taken to the Cabinet Meeting on 2
nd

 July 2014.  At that meeting 

Thurrock Council resolved:  

1. That Joint Venture’s emerging vision for the Thames Enterprise Park site be endorsed.  

2. That authority to the Planning, Transport and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 

provide detailed input into the developing Masterplan, as required, be delegated. 

Following this the Interim Masterplan and Sustainability Assessment, including associated technical 

reports, were submitted to Thurrock Council in October/November 2014 and were the subject of 

consultation with a range of stakeholder groups. 

The feedback received through this process has been reviewed and has informed refinement of this 

Final Interim Masterplan.  In some instances further assessment work has also been instructed to 

address issues raised during the consultation. 

Page 21



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 2 

ii Strategic Objectives 

A number of strategic objectives, stated as key development “Principles”, are established within this 

Final Interim Masterplan, which will help to guide development of the Thames Enterprise Park site, 

as follows: 

Principle 1: The Design Concept: To provide a framework for development of Thames Enterprise 

Park in a manner which creates an environment that is attractive to inward investment, as a place 

to work, and enhances the visual appearance of the site 

Principle 2: The Use of Land and Mix of Uses: To offer guidance on appropriate land uses and 

scale of development and to provide an illustrative development framework for an identified range 

of primary uses compatible with the future Thames Oilport facility, and complementary ancillary 

support services, having regard to constraints associated with COMAH regulation restrictions; 

Principle 3: Open Space, the Creek and Ecological Mitigation: To establish key principles and 

potential land areas for the provision, enhancement and management of open space and ecological 

resources, including a strategy for the future role of Shellhaven Creek as well as to protect and 

enhance landscape, ecology and heritage assets; 

Principle 4: Employment, Learning and Skills: To create the right circumstances for 

reinstatement of the site as a major employment hub, with associated job opportunities for local 

people, and access to training and skills development to service the needs of key sectors specified 

in the developing Masterplan; 

Principle 5: Access, Movement and Transport: To ensure that the developing Masterplan 

identifies a strategy for the future transportation infrastructure of the area including provision of 

appropriate access arrangements in respect of highway capacity, whilst seeking to maximise 

advantages offered by the availability of multi-modal infrastructure and encourage sustainable 

modes of travel; 

Principle 6: Sustainable Development: To ensure an appropriately balanced approach towards 

the achievement of sustainable development, prioritising the delivery of jobs and economic 

regeneration, alongside consideration of social and environmental issues. 

Principle 7: Strategy: To assist the Local Planning Authority in the consideration and 

determination of future planning applications in the area, through the provision of a clear and 

usable guidance document. 

 

 

  

Page 22



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 

 

Contents 

Summary ........................................................................................................... 1 

i Executive Summary....................................................................................... 1 
ii Strategic Objectives....................................................................................... 2 

1. Introduction to the Masterplan ................................................................. 1 

Introduction ............................................................................................................ 1 
Masterplan purpose, objectives and structure ........................................................ 1 
Status of the Thames Enterprise Park Masterplan ................................................. 2 
Energy Sector Opportunities .................................................................................. 3 
Document Structure ............................................................................................... 4 

2. The Masterplan site and surrounding context ........................................ 6 

Site Location and Context ...................................................................................... 6 
Location facilities ................................................................................................... 7 
General and Planning Site History ......................................................................... 7 

General Site History ........................................................................................... 7 
Planning History ................................................................................................. 8 

3. Policy Context ............................................................................................ 9 

National Policy and Guidance ................................................................................ 9 
Local Policy ......................................................................................................... 10 

4. Developing the Vision ............................................................................. 13 

Relationship with scenarios appraisal and Sustainability Assessment Framework
 ............................................................................................................................ 13 

5. The Vision for Thames Enterprise Park ................................................. 14 

A Vision for Thames Enterprise Park ................................................................... 14 
Development Opportunities ................................................................................. 14 
UK Inward Investment ......................................................................................... 16 
Sustainable Development .................................................................................... 17 
Higher Education and Skills Development ........................................................... 18 

6. Supporting Studies.................................................................................. 20 

Sustainability Assessment and topic summaries.................................................. 20 
Air Quality ........................................................................................................ 20 
Noise ............................................................................................................... 21 
Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure ............................................................... 21 
Climate Change Mitigation ............................................................................... 21 
Landscape ....................................................................................................... 22 
Archaeology ..................................................................................................... 22 
Economy and Employment .............................................................................. 23 
Flooding ........................................................................................................... 23 
Soil, Contamination and Sustainable Land Use ............................................... 24 
Waste .............................................................................................................. 24 
Water Quality and Water Resources ................................................................ 24 

Page 23



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 4 

Transport ......................................................................................................... 25 
Other potential validation requirements at application stage ................................ 26 

7. The Masterplan ........................................................................................ 27 

Framework Proposals .......................................................................................... 27 
Layout principles.................................................................................................. 28 
Long Term Change & Phasing of Development ................................................... 29 
Transport and Access .......................................................................................... 30 
Delivery and Implementation ............................................................................... 32 

 

Figures 

Figure 1.1 – Site Location Plan 
Figure 2.1 – Site Context Plan 
Figure 5.1 – Constraints Plan 
Figure 6.1 – EIA Process Diagram 
Figure 7.1 – Illustrative Hybrid Layout and Indicative Land Use Plan 
Figure 7.2 – HSE Consultation Zones Plan 
 
 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – List of Consultees and Respondents 

 

Page 24



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 1 

1. INTRODUCTION TO THE MASTERPLAN 

Introduction 

1.1 The Morzine Consortium (a joint venture comprising Greenergy, Shell and Vopak) acquired the 

former Coryton oil refinery site, located within the eastern part of Thurrock Borough, in September 

2012 (see site location plan at Figure 1.1).  The Masterplan does not include any of the land 

acquired by Morzine in January 2015 (Lot 5).  In addition to the objective of establishing a new fuel 

import, blending and supply terminal called Thames Oilport (TOP), the three shareholding 

organisations are aiming to ensure a further 375 acres of developable land at the site are brought 

forward for development as Thames Enterprise Park.  This may be facilitated through the sale of 

Thames Enterprise Park to a specialist developer. 

1.2 This Final Interim Masterplan guides development of Thames Enterprise Park, setting out a vision 

and key principles for creation of a business park maximising advantages offered by the location 

and existing infrastructure.  As well as industrial and logistics uses, it is considered that this may be 

attractive to energy uses including Energy from Waste (EfW) and other Environmental Technology 

schemes, plus other complimentary commercial and ancillary uses.  

1.3 The planning policy context relevant to future developments is presented along with other practical 

constraints and opportunities. In addition to establishing a range of acceptable uses and the 

anticipated development phasing, the Final Interim Masterplan document contains illustrative 

material which shows the form that Thames Enterprise Park could take, including an indicative 

layout approach, recognising that ultimately this will be determined by the market. 

1.4 The Masterplan has been devised and will continue to be developed in liaison with Thurrock 

Council and a number of other key consultees, not least in connection with the undertaking of 

Sustainability Assessment work that is both appraising and informing the Masterplan. 

 

Masterplan purpose, objectives and structure 

1.5 The purpose of the Masterplan is to stimulate, facilitate and ultimately guide development of the 

Thames Enterprise Park site for energy-related and other appropriate commercial and industrial 

uses.  The Masterplan s gives consideration to the identification of potential cumulative impacts, 

mitigation where necessary, and of issues relating to the delivery of infrastructure and mitigation. 

Set out below is the overall vision for Thames Enterprise Park, followed by seven key principles 

that further explain what the Masterplan and development as a whole are seeking to achieve. 

1.6 The vision for Thames Enterprise Park is: 

To provide a framework of infrastructure - land, services, utilities, assets - to offer attractive 

opportunities for investment, business and development primarily within the energy and 

industrial sectors, including potential environmental technologies, that maximises the value 

of the location and its available facilities and the connectivity to surrounding businesses on 

Thames Enterprise Park, Thames Oilport and adjacent areas. 

Page 25



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 2 

1.7 The following key principles for development of Thames Enterprise Park have been established 

through the Masterplanning process: 

Principle 1: The Design Concept: To provide a framework for development of Thames 

Enterprise Park in a manner which creates an environment that is attractive to inward 

investment, as a place to work, and enhances the visual appearance of the site; 

Principle 2: The Use of Land and Mix of Uses: To offer guidance on appropriate land uses 

and scale of development and to provide an illustrative development framework for an 

identified range of primary uses compatible with the future Thames Oilport facility, and 

complementary ancillary support services, having regard to constraints associated with 

COMAH regulation restrictions; 

Principle 3: Open Space, the Creek and Ecological Mitigation: To establish key principles 

and potential land areas for the provision, enhancement and management of open space 

and ecological resources, including a strategy for the future role of Shellhaven Creek as well 

as to protect and enhance landscape, ecology and heritage assets; 

Principle 4: Employment, Learning and Skills: To create the right circumstances for 

reinstatement of the site as a major employment hub, with associated job opportunities for 

local people, and access to training and skills development to service the needs of key 

sectors specified in the Masterplan; 

Principle 5: Access, Movement and Transport: To ensure that the Masterplan identifies a 

strategy for the provision of future transportation infrastructure of the area including 

appropriate access arrangements in respect of highway capacity, whilst seeking to 

maximise advantages offered by the availability of multi-modal infrastructure and encourage 

sustainable modes of travel; 

Principle 6: Sustainable Development: To ensure an appropriately balanced approach 

towards the achievement of sustainable development, prioritising the delivery of jobs and 

economic regeneration, alongside consideration of social and environmental issues. 

Principle 7: Strategy: To assist the Local Planning Authority in the consideration and 

determination of future planning applications in the area, through the provision of a clear 

and usable guidance document. 

 

Status of the Thames Enterprise Park Masterplan  

1.8 The Masterplan document is being developed in liaison with Thurrock Council, in order to ensure 

their full and crucial support for the regeneration of the former Coryton refinery site, and creation of 

Thames Enterprise Park in the manner envisaged, and to capitalise on the location's advantages 

available in support of sustainable economic growth within the borough.  Initial presentation of the 

outline vision for the site was made at the Planning, Transport and Regeneration Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee on 19th November 2013.   

1.9 Following this a Masterplan Opportunities and Scoping Report was submitted to Thurrock Council 

in May 2014 and formed the basis of a report taken to the Cabinet Meeting on 2nd July 2014.  At 

that meeting Thurrock Council resolved:  

Page 26



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 3 

“1. That Joint Venture’s emerging vision for the Thames Enterprise Park site be endorsed.  

2. That authority to the Planning, Transport and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 

provide detailed input into the developing Masterplan, as required, be delegated.”   

1.10 It is important to note that the Masterplan itself is not intended to constitute part of the statutory 

Development Plan for Thurrock, and will not be formally adopted as a Supplementary Planning 

Document.  It is anticipated, however, that upon completion the Masterplan will represent a material 

consideration in the determination of future planning applications.  Furthermore it is intended that 

the site will proceed to be allocated through the Thurrock Local Plan review that is underway, and 

that this document, and its associated background studies, will provide an important part of the 

evidence base for the Local Plan. 

1.11 Whilst not a statutory requirement for a document of this nature, it was agreed that Sustainability 

Assessment would be undertaken as an iterative process alongside formulation of the Masterplan.  

The Sustainability Assessment was duly undertaken and the Interim Masterplan, Sustainability 

Assessment and supporting technical reports were submitted to Thurrock Council in 

October/November 2014, and in turn were the subject of consultation towards the end of the year.   

1.12 Comments received (see Appendix 1 for list of respondents), on all aspects of the submitted 

material, have been taken into account in the refinement of this Final Interim Masterplan document.  

In some instances this has resulted in additional work having been instructed to address issues 

raised.  The key findings of the assessment work and explanation of further tasks underway, are 

summarised within later sections of this Masterplan document. 

1.13 Through the process of engagement with key consultees and the Sustainability Appraisal exercise 

undertaken it will be ensured that the Masterplan can be considered a robust document that strives 

to deliver sustainable development. 

1.14 The Sustainability Assessment Report will also be made available, whilst the key findings of 

individual topic studies are also summarised in later sections of the Masterplan.  The voluntary 

Sustainability Assessment process, commencing with preparation of an SA Scoping Report on 

which a wide range of bodies have been consulted, will ensure that the Masterplan can be 

considered a robust document that strives to deliver sustainable development. 

1.15 The Sustainability Appraisal process and the manner in which key findings of this have been, and 

are continuing to be, fed into development of the Masterplan, is addressed in greater detail within 

Section 4. 

 

Energy Sector Opportunities 

1.16 Encouragement for use of renewable energy resources through the development of renewable 

energy schemes is embedded within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), including 

reference within one of the Core Planning Principles at Para. 17 in the context of ensuring a 

transition to a low carbon future in the face of challenges presented by climate change.  The 

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) also recognises the importance of increasing the 

amount of energy from renewable and low carbon technologies to help ensure that the UK has a 

secure energy supply, to reduce greenhouse gas emissions to slow down climate change and 

Page 27



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 4 

stimulate investment in new jobs and businesses. It is noted that planning has a crucial role in the 

delivery of new renewable and low carbon energy infrastructure in locations where the local 

environmental impact is acceptable. 

1.17 In this context the Thames Enterprise Park site is ideally located for renewable and low carbon 

energy developments, given the general separation from residential receptors, and with clear 

synergies available with existing and proposed activities on the site and in the surrounding area, 

with particular opportunities to be found in the Environmental Technology sector. 

1.18 The site has an extensive Thames waterfront with six jetties (some of which will be reserved for 

TOP), provides access to the Rotterdam traded fuel market, whilst London itself represents the 

largest energy market and waste feedstock source in the UK.  The site additionally benefits from 

adjacent high voltage power and high pressure natural gas infrastructure, and extensive transport 

infrastructure, as well as access to the strategic UK Oil Pipeline (UKOP) and Government Pipelines 

and Storage System (GPSS).  These, combined with a supportive local authority (Thurrock Council) 

and the historic, current and planned energy operations on site, particularly the planned adjacent 

Thames Oilport, and other support facilities make Thames Enterprise Park particularly suited to 

new energy activities, providing opportunities to establish a critical mass of related industries. 

1.19 This can deliver opportunities for all stakeholders on site to take advantage of mutual transactions 

around feedstock supply and production offtake and supply.  For example many potential waste to 

energy projects produce bio-gas which generally has a lower calorific value (energy content) than 

mains natural gas but which has significant value if consumed locally for generation of electricity 

and heat or upgraded for delivery to the national grid. 

 

Document Structure 

1.20 The remainder of this Final Interim Masterplan document is structured as follows: 

Section 2 - Site and Surroundings: Describing the location and form of the site and setting 

this within the context of the surrounding area; 

Section 3 - Policy Context: Setting out planning policies and guidance at national and local 

levels relevant to the site and the form of development proposed within the Masterplan;  

Section 4 - Developing the Vision: Providing a brief overview of the processes and activities 

undertaken in formulation of the Masterplan, and its further refinement, including the related 

Sustainability Assessment exercise;  

Section 5 - The Vision for Thames Enterprise Park: Setting out in greater detail the vision for 

development of the Thames Enterprise Park site, including the range of potential uses that 

would be considered acceptable;  

Section 6 - Supporting Studies:  Providing an overview of the assessments being 

undertaken to inform preparation of the Masterplan and the associated Sustainability 

Assessment, and summarising key findings to date; 

Section 7 - The Masterplan: Explaining the core visual and descriptive element of the 

Masterplan. This includes the provision of visual illustrations of the potential development 

Page 28



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 5 

framework, and practical considerations such as the appropriate balance of built uses and 

open space, of complementary ancillary uses and the anticipated phasing of development 

across the site. 

Page 29



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 6 

2. THE MASTERPLAN SITE AND SURROUNDING 

CONTEXT 

Site Location and Context 

2.1 The Masterplan area lies within and forms part of the site of the former Coryton refinery at the 

south-eastern tip of Thurrock Borough, within the Thames Gateway regeneration and growth area 

(as shown within Figure 2.1).  Measuring approximately 375 developable acres (152  hectares) in 

extent, the site is located near to the settlements of Stanford-le Hope and Corringham.  By road it is 

accessed via, and lies at the end of, The Manorway (A1014), linking with the A13 a short distance 

to the west. 

2.2 To the west of the site lies the newly established London Gateway port facility with associated 

consent for development of a “Port-Centric” logistics park, on the site of the former Shell Haven oil 

refinery.   

2.3 Aside from the London Gateway site, the surrounding area comprises rough, open marsh and 

grassland to the north and north-west, with water bodies in the form of the Thames Estuary to the 

south, and Holehaven Creek to the east.  Beyond this, to the east, lies Canvey Island (see Figure 

2.1). 

2.4 The Masterplan site itself comprises previously developed land, including substantial infrastructure 

associated with the former refinery and other ancillary operations.  The northern and eastern tips of 

the Coryton complex, totalling approximately 100 acres (40 hectares), form the focus for future 

development and consolidation of the Thames Oilport facility, involving the potential re-use and 

refurbishment of existing bulk liquid storage tanks and other infrastructure plus new facilities. 

2.5 The remaining area, which is available for redevelopment in the context of the Thames Enterprise 

Park, and the subject of the Masterplan, is irregular in shape and has two distinct parts.   

2.6 The western area of the site (called the West Site) has been largely cleared of previous (former 

Shell Haven) refinery operations structures, albeit that remnants of tank bases, hard-standings and 

access roads. The racks relating to a former bitumen plant are planned to be demolished.  Areas of 

this parcel, which measures approximately 105 acres (42 hectares), and is served by a separate 

jetty to the Thames, have more recently been used for car parking and construction activities which 

supported the ex-Coryton Refinery and, as a consequence, a significant amount of the site is 

covered with hard-standing.  Around 20 acres of this land, including the Shellhaven Creek and 

roads, is not considered to be developable. 

2.7 The bulk of the Masterplan site, lying to the north of the Shellhaven Creek which separates this 

from the western site, extends up to approximately 310 acres (125 hectares) dependent on the final 

boundary with Thames Oilport.  This area of the site comprises a wide range of buildings, 

structures, plant and other refinery infrastructure, set upon an entirely hard-surfaced base.  A 

number of clustered large bulk liquid storage tanks of varying sizes are present, in addition to 

numerous large stacks of varying heights.  The site is interspersed with other tall structures and a 

myriad of pipe-work across the site, whilst a waste water treatment works is located on the north-

Page 30



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 7 

eastern side.  The site is crossed by a series of internal roads, broadly following a grid structure, 

plus the former refinery rail sidings.  After providing for this infrastructure plus the balance of the 

Shellhaven Creek, this part of the site comprises around 280 developable acres.   It is planned that 

all the redundant above ground infrastructure, structures and buildings will be demolished and 

cleared.  Demolition of the refinery process units, boilerhouse, stacks and LPG tanks commenced 

in November 2014.   

2.8 Towards the western side of the site are a number of office, stores and workshop buildings with 

associated car parking and security facilities.  It is intended that some of these will be retained for 

future use. 

2.9 Within the wider complex, but excluded from the area covered by either the Thames Enterprise 

Park Masterplan or Thames Oilport sites are the Intergen Power Station,  Coryton Advanced Fuels 

and Calor Gas storage facilities (under lease from Thames Enterprise Park), all possessing clear 

synergy with the historic and proposed uses of the site.  Tenants such as Calor, while not part of 

the Masterplan, do form part of Thames Enterprise Park.  The Masterplan does not include any of 

the land acquired by Morzine in January 2015 (Lot 5). 

2.10 The above acreages are indicative and subject to final arrangements for Thames Oilport and 

detailed master planning of Thames Enterprise Park. 

 

Location facilities 

2.11 In summary, the Thames Enterprise Park site benefits from the following facilities and services: 

 Deep water access via jetties to the River Thames, and extensive river frontage; 

 Road access via the Manorway (A1014) with connections to the A13 and M25 in close 

proximity; 

 Historic rail connection and sidings with scope for reinstatement and shared access to mainline 

network in collaboration with adjacent London Gateway; 

 On-site liquid fuel infrastructure, such as the UK Oil Pipeline (UKOP), Government Pipelines 

and Storage System (GPSS) and tank storage; 

 Connection to National Grid, including nearby high and medium voltage power and high and 

intermediate pressure natural gas transmission and distribution infrastructure. 

 A very high protection from tidal flooding with the risk of tidal flooding therefore considered 

extremely low. The annual probability of tidal flooding is estimated to be less than 0.1% in any 

one year, which represents a higher standard of protection than other estuaries and coastal 

areas in the U.K. 

 

General and Planning Site History 

General Site History 

2.12 Coryton was first developed as the site of an ammunition factory, opened in the late nineteenth 

century by the firm Kynoch, alongside an estate for employees known as Kynochtown.  It was at 

this time that the rail connection was established through the construction of the Corringham Light 

Page 31



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 8 

Railway (CLR).  Upon closure of the Kynoch works in 1919 the site was taken over by coal 

merchants Cory Brothers Ltd who developed an oil storage depot, and renamed the location as 

Coryton. 

2.13 In 1950 Coryton and the CLR were sold to the American Vacuum Oil Company, later to become 

Mobil.  The CLR branch from Thames Haven was upgraded to main-line standards. 

2.14 A new refinery became operational in 1953. Coryton village was demolished and absorbed into the 

refinery site in the 1970s. 

2.15 Inputs and outputs associated with the refinery were delivered by road, sea and rail, in addition to 

connection across the country to Stanlow Refinery in North West England via the UK Oil Pipeline 

(UKOP), opened in 1969. 

2.16 Coryton was operated by BP from 1996, when Mobil’s fuels operations in Europe were placed into 

a joint venture with BP. Following the merger in 1999 of Mobil with Exxon, the remaining interest in 

the refinery was sold to BP in 2000. 

2.17 In 2007 the plant was sold by BP to Petroplus, and was subsequently acquired by the Consortium 

from the administrators in September 2012, following announcement that the refinery was to close.  

The refinery was decommissioned and made safe in 2013. 

2.18 Adjacent to the site is a 753 MW gas-fired power station, opened in 2002 and run by Coryton 

Energy Co Ltd, part of Intergen.  This lies outside the area covered by the Masterplan, but it is 

clearly relevant to an understanding of the nature of the site and its immediate surrounding context. 

Planning History 

2.19 The extensive planning application history of the site naturally reflects the general history set out 

above.  The earliest recorded application (49/00008/FUL) was for a domestic garage, given the 

presence of residential uses at that time.  Since this date, however, applications have essentially 

charted the growth of the facility over time.  These have included erection of staff welfare facilities 

(49/00115/FUL – medical consulting room; 55/00457/FUL – locker room and lavatory 

accommodation), and other security and ancillary facilities (59/00427/FUL – operators hut; 

63/00825/FUL – patrol office; 79/0047A/FUL – office extension), to select only a few examples. 

2.20 More substantive applications have related to proposals such as construction of a control house, 

de-asphalting unit (50/00138H/FUL); extension to oil pump house (67/00679/FUL); improved 

lighting for railcar loading (70/00984/FUL); erection of blowing gas incinerator with 30.5m stack 

(72/00340/FUL); new catalytic cracking unit, alkylation unit, sulphur unit, viscosity breaking unit and 

catalytic hydrodesulphurisation unit (76/00724/OUT). 

2.21 More recent applications have been connected with extension of the bitumen plant 

(08/00346/TTGFUL); a new single storey building and footbridge over Shellhaven Creek 

(11/50322/TTGFUL); new sulphur tail gas treatment unit with 34m column (11/00628/FUL), and a 

number associated with establishment of the Thames Oilport facility from 2013 onwards.  

2.22 All applications referred to above, which is by no means an exhaustive list, were granted consent. 

Page 32



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 9 

3. POLICY CONTEXT 

National Policy and Guidance  

3.1 Government planning policy is contained within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 

which was published in March 2012.  This represents guidance for local planning authorities in 

drawing up plans and as a material consideration in determining planning applications.  The NPPF 

reaffirms the importance of seeking to achieve sustainable development, in relation to which three 

inter-related dimensions are specified, namely economic, social and environmental.  This is 

reflected in the presumption in favour of sustainable development, which is to be seen as a golden 

thread running through both plan-making and decision-taking. 

3.2 Twelve core planning principles are identified (at Para 17), which include to: 

 “proactively drive and support sustainable economic development to deliver the homes, 

business and industrial units, infrastructure and thriving local places that the country 

needs” and to “respond positively to wider opportunities for growth”;  

 “secure high quality design”; 

 “support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate, encourage the reuse 

of existing resources, including conversion of existing buildings, and encourage the use 

of renewable resources”; 

 “contribute to conserving and enhancing the natural environment and reducing 

pollution. Allocations of land for development should prefer land of lesser environmental 

value”; 

 “encourage the effective use of land by reusing land that has been previously developed 

(brownfield land), provided that it is not of high environmental value.” 

3.3 Section 1 of the NPPF addresses the topic of building a strong, competitive economy, representing 

a particular emphasis of the framework. This requires (at Para. 19) that “significant weight 

should be placed on the need to support economic growth through the planning system.” 

3.4 Further policies of the NPPF are relevant to a range of development considerations that are 

explored within this Final Interim Masterplan and the associated sustainability assessment.  These 

include the promotion of sustainable transport (Section 4), the requirement for good design (Section 

7), meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change (Section 10), and 

conserving and enhancing both the natural and historic environment (Sections 11 and 12 

respectively). 

3.5 Government guidance on a wide range of planning issues is set out within the Planning Practice 

Guidance, published in March 2014. 

3.6 The National Policy Statement for Waste Water (February 2012) sets out Government policy for the 

provision of major waste water infrastructure including the construction of and alterations to waste 

water treatment plants. 

3.7 The National Planning Policy for Waste (October 2014) sets out the Government’s ambition to work 

towards a more sustainable and efficient approach to resource use and management and sets out 

detailed waste planning policies. 

Page 33



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 10 

3.8 Other documents of relevance are: 

 The EU Waste Framework Directive (2008/98/EC); 

 The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011; 

 Guidance for local planning authorities on implementing planning requirements of the European 

Union Waste Framework Directive (2008/98/EC) DCLG Dec 2012; 

 Waste Management Plan for England. Defra Dec 2013; and 

 Energy from Waste – A guide to the debate. Defra Feb 2014. 

Local Policy 

3.9 The Development Plan for Thurrock comprises the following adopted documents with potential 

relevance to the Thames Enterprise Park scheme: 

 Saved policies of the Thurrock Borough Local Plan (Adopted 1997) not yet explicitly replaced by 

policies of the Local Development Framework (LDF); 

 The Thurrock LDF Core Strategy and Policies for Management of Development DPD (Adopted 

2011). 

3.10 A focussed review of the Core Strategy to ensure consistency with the NPPF is currently well 

advanced, having recently been through independent examination.  Thurrock Council recently took 

the decision that further focussed reviews that were underway in respect of Broad Locations and 

Strategic Sites, and Policy CSTP7 (Network of Centres and Arena Essex) would progress in the 

context of a single consolidated Local Plan (Cabinet Decision 01104276 – 12th February 2014).  

The Local Plan will also contain policies previously advanced through initial consultations on the 

Site Allocations and Minerals and Waste DPDs. 

3.11 The current Local Development Scheme, active from 1st May 2014, sets out that the Local Plan will 

be adopted towards the end of 2018, following consultation stages through 2015-2017. 

3.12 The 1997 Local Plan designated the Masterplan site as that of an oil refinery (E8A) to which Policy 

E8 applied, in common with the adjoining Shell Haven refinery (E8B).   

3.13 Policy E8, which remains saved by Direction of the Secretary of State, and will fall to be replaced 

by site allocation policies in the emerging Local Plan, supported proposals for new oil refining 

activities within these sites or on adjacent land specified for their expansion, subject to avoidance of 

additional material environmental, safety or health hazards.  The expansion area referred to 

comprised of some 45.3 hectares of land to the north of the Coryton refinery site (under reference 

E8B (b)). 

3.14 This situation remains that reflected on the LDF Adopted Interim Proposals Map (published in 2011 

in conjunction with adoption of the Core Strategy), recognising the saved nature of this policy and 

the intention to update this through the allocation of sites in the Local Plan. 

3.15 The current Proposals Map shows that land to the north and north-west of the site is designated as 

Green Belt, along with a number of nature conservation designations (Local Nature Reserves 

(LNR) and a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). 

3.16 The Industrial and Occupational structure of the Borough is highlighted as one of several Key 

Drivers of Change.  It is recognised that policies of the LDF must aim to support growth in local 

Page 34



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 11 

businesses, with the overall aspiration to help secure an additional 26,000 jobs in Thurrock over the 

period 2001 – 2026. 

3.17 In the context of Policy CSSP2: Sustainable Employment Growth, it is stated that the Council’s 

approach to sustainable economic development includes: 

 Achieving increased prosperity and employment growth; 

 A sustainable balance between housing and jobs growth across the Borough; 

 Supporting indigenous business; 

 Attracting inward investment; 

 Diversifying the economy; 

 Providing improved skills and jobs for local people; and 

 Providing for land and sites of appropriate type and location. 

3.18 A range of Development Management Policies that will be used as the basis for assessing and 

determining future planning applications in the Borough are also set out in relation to the following 

topic areas: 

 Built Environment; 

 Natural Environment; 

 Transport and Access; 

 Climate Change; 

 Flood Risk; and 

 Developers Contributions. 

3.19 Beyond this adopted framework the clear intentions of Thurrock Borough Council for retention of 

the former Coryton site in active employment use, including both Thames Oilport and Thames 

Enterprise Park, can be seen within consultation documents associated with the Local Plan.   

3.20 Specifically it should be noted that the Further Issues and Options Consultation on the Site 

Allocations DPD (January 2013) proposed allocation of Land at Coryton Oil Refinery (309 ha) as 

Land for Primary Employment (Site E2v), recognising cessation of the former uses and the 

appropriateness and importance of seeking to retain the site in employment use. 

3.21 The draft Core Strategy Focussed Review: Broad Locations and Strategic Sites consultation 

(January 2013) has proposed to return land that had previously been allocated for expansion of the 

Coryton Oil Refinery site (as referred to above) to the Green Belt. 

3.22 Furthermore, a Position Statement on the Core Strategy that was approved by Thurrock Council’s 

Cabinet on 12th February 2014 (Decision 01104276 referred to above) in the context of moving 

towards preparation of a new Local Plan, made specific reference to the strategy for the Borough 

being based on the delivery of significant levels of growth at six key locations, including “The 

development of the Thames Enterprise Park on the former Petroplus refinery at Coryton to 

create a 300 to 400 acre Environmental Technologies and Energy Hub.” 

3.23 It is also appropriate to have regard to the Local Plans of the adjoining Local Authority areas, not 

least in view of the location of the site on the eastern edge of the Borough and the strategic nature 

of the development opportunity.  

Page 35



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 12 

3.24 In this regard it is noted that Basildon Council is currently working on its Local Plan Core Strategy 

with the Revised Preferred Options report on consultation last year.  Further consultations are 

anticipated before adoption in 2018.   

3.25 The joint Essex County Council and Southend-on-Sea Borough Council Waste Local Plan (2001) 

guides waste development and is used as the basis for determining waste-related planning 

applications within Essex and Southend.  The authorities have started work on the production of a 

replacement waste Local Plan which is due for further consultation in July 2015 and adoption in 

December 2016.   

 

Page 36



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 13 

4. DEVELOPING THE VISION 

Relationship with scenarios appraisal and Sustainability Assessment Framework 

4.1 The Masterplan has been developed, revised and will continue to be refined, in close consultation 

with Thurrock Council, including regular meetings with officers from a range of departments and 

engagement with members throughout the process. 

4.2 It was agreed by both parties that the undertaking of sustainability appraisal to both inform the 

Masterplan and ensure that this is underpinned by an appropriate level of robust assessment of 

sustainability issues would be beneficial. 

4.3 It is recognised that the Masterplan is not intended to be formally adopted as part of the statutory 

development plan at this stage and that sustainability appraisal itself would not therefore be 

required in a formal sense.  The accepted approach to sustainability appraisal has however been 

broadly followed, although to avoid confusion and to differentiate this from a formal appraisal the 

process has been referred to as a "sustainability assessment" (SA) in this instance. 

4.4 An SA Scoping Report was prepared and submitted to Thurrock Council for comment in April 2014, 

who in turn consulted with a wide range of relevant bodies and organisations, in addition to internal 

departments within the authority.  As a result of comments received a number of sub-objectives 

have been refined and addressed within the SA. 

4.5 Through the identification and assessment of a number of topic areas the sustainability issues that 

could potentially arise in connection with the Thames Enterprise Park development have been 

explored at an appropriate level of detail, with a limited number of assessments continuing to be 

undertaken. 

4.6 The approach taken within the SA process has involved the assessment of two theoretical 

development scenarios, one assuming the site would be developed entirely for Environmental 

Technology and Energy uses, and the other that this would comprise entirely B8 warehouse, 

logistics and distribution uses.  This methodology has ensured that the impacts associated with the 

extremes of both scenarios have been considered.   

4.7 The findings of the on-going SA process are being used alongside investigation of other constraints 

and market intelligence to refine the development framework and illustrative layout for the Thames 

Enterprise Park site.  Overviews of the topic assessments undertaken, and of work that is 

continuing, are set out within Section 7 of this document, along with summaries of their findings, 

and will provide a good basis for future identification of issues that would potentially need to be 

included within the scope of Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) work that is likely to be 

required in support of individual planning applications.  Further consideration of this issue is also 

contained within Section 7. 

  

Page 37



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 14 

5. THE VISION FOR THAMES ENTERPRISE 

PARK  

A Vision for Thames Enterprise Park 

5.1 As noted previously, the vision for Thames Enterprise Park is: 

To provide a framework of infrastructure - land, services, utilities, assets - to offer attractive 

opportunities for investment, business and development primarily within the energy and 

industrial sectors, including potential environmental technologies, that maximises the value 

of the location and its available facilities and the connectivity to surrounding businesses on 

Thames Enterprise Park, Thames Oilport and adjacent areas. 

5.2 The Final Interim Masterplan expands upon this vision for Thames Enterprise Park and gives some 

substance to, and guidance on, the form that this planned hub of industrial and energy-related 

businesses, occupying one of the largest industrial sites in the northern Thames Gateway and 

complementing the neighbouring Thames Oilport and London Gateway operations, could ultimately 

take. 

5.3 The technical approach to sustainability assessment of a range of topic areas has entailed the 

preparation of two theoretical scenarios based on either Environmental Technology and Energy 

development or B8 Warehouse and Distribution uses, in order to test these two cases.  In reality, 

however, it is envisaged that the ultimate development driven by the market will comprise a mixture 

of commercial, energy and industrial uses consistent with the overall vision for creation of an 

enterprise park compatible with the current and historic activities on the wider site.  

5.4 The Final Interim Masterplan shows an illustrative layout which strikes an indicative balance 

between these uses, in addition to other elements that will contribute to a sustainable enterprise 

park.  This indicative mixed use approach will enable a degree of responsiveness to market 

demand, within the scope of constraints identified elsewhere in this document and shown on the 

Constraints Plan attached as Figure 5.1, and the parameters of the Sustainability Assessment, and 

with regard to the identified list of appropriate uses, in order to ensure that the substantial 

employment and economic development benefits offered by the site are capitalised upon. 

5.5 Within the remainder of this section the range of uses that are currently being considered, and 

which it is felt would ultimately be acceptable in accordance with the overall vision, is presented , 

having regard to other policy and sustainability considerations. 

 

Development Opportunities 

5.6 The site’s location, infrastructure and history lend it to a wide range of appropriate uses, which are 

considered compatible with and complementary to, the existing uses on site, and have been 

considered as part of the supporting studies and  Sustainability Assessment including: 

 

Page 38



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 15 

Table 5.1: Appropriate Uses 

Appropriate Uses 
 

Renewable energy, such as solar and wind 
 

Energy from refuse derived fuels (RDF) and other waste feedstocks 
 

Power generation 
 

Combined heat and power (CHP) plants 
 

Fuel storage, processing and trading 
 

Energy supply chain and support activities 

Energy research and development centres 
 

Upstream waste processing to provide EfW feedstock on site 
 

Non-energy industrial production 
 

Logistics and storage (B8 Warehouse and Distribution) 
 

 
5.7 In addition to the above mix of core uses, it is considered that a number of further ancillary uses 

would also be appropriate, subject to acceptable siting relative to application of the COMAH 

Regulations.  Such uses would include facilities and services to meet the needs of a sizeable 

workforce, which could arguably extend to those on the adjacent London Gateway site, including 

food and drink outlets and restaurants, small-scale convenience retail, or potentially other support 

facilities such as vehicle servicing.  The scale of any retail offer would need to be such that it would 

not represent a destination in its own right, so as not to divert trade away from other locations in the 

established retail hierarchy in Thurrock Borough.  Pitched at the right level, however, the inclusion 

of convenient provision to meet top-up shopping and other similar needs will offer clear 

sustainability advantages through preventing the need for staff to leave the site to travel to facilities 

further afield during the course of the working day. 

5.8 Other compatible uses could also include office space, which may or may not be related to the core 

activities on the park, as well as training and education facilities (see further discussion of this issue 

below). 

5.9 The following table sets out the variety of EfW and Environmental Technologies considered 

appropriate to the site, including an indication of the feedstock and off-take that would be involved.  

This list should be considered as indicative of the types of process that may be undertaken, and is 

not intended to be restrictive, with alternative options being judged on their merits against the 

Masterplan and Development Plan as a whole, in addition to the provisions of the NPPF, PPG and 

other material considerations, at the appropriate time. 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 39



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 16 

Table 5.2: Potential EfW and Environmental Technologies 

Process Feedstock Offtake 

Gasification + Fischer Tropsch 
Synthesis Conversion and Hydrogen 
Pyrolysis upgrade to liquids 

RDF 
Bio-liquids - Jet fuel, naphtha & 
diesel 

Pyrolysis RDF Bio-gas + carbon 

Distillation / Trans- esterification 
Food waste + 
sewage 

Bio-diesel 

Anaerobic Digestion 

Food waste + 
cattle slurry + 
manure + 
agricultural 
organic waste 

Bio-gas + Fertiliser 

Thermal cracker / distillation Shredded tyres Bio-gas + bio-oil + carbon 

Microbe gas fermentation Bio-mass Bio-jet fuel + ethanol 

Plasma gasification 
Commercial & 
industrial waste 

Bio-gas 

Reactor-distillation Plastics 
Bio-liquids - Jet fuel, naphtha & 
diesel 

 

UK Inward Investment 

5.10 All of the joint venture partners of the business operate in a global environment and Shell and 

Vopak both have foreign based corporate headquarters with public listed holding companies.  In the 

global business environment of the 21st Century there is increasing competition between the 

operating companies within each of the joint venture partners’ respective divisions for the limited 

investment funds available for new developments both within the UK and overseas.  Therefore, it is 

imperative that UK organisations remain competitive in terms of the returns that they deliver and 

the development risks they incur if they are to secure funding for any such development.  

Irrespective of the domicile of the holding companies, any investment by the joint venture partners, 

either solely or collectively, should be viewed as UK inward investment that will be strictly evaluated 

against global competition for access to that capital.  This includes investment in enabling the 

Thames Enterprise Park (including demolition and clearance) necessary ahead of any 

redevelopment of the site. 

Page 40



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 17 

Sustainable Development 

5.11 The NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 

sustainable development (Para. 6).  It goes on to define three roles for planning in pursuit of 

sustainable development – economic, social and environmental. 

5.12 The sustainability assessment which has informed preparation of the Masterplan, will ensure that 

these strands are appropriately reflected within Thames Enterprise Park.  The relationship between 

the SA and the Masterplan is set out at greater length within Section 4 of this report. 

5.13 In summary, and from the findings of the assessments undertaken and completed to date, it is 

considered that the Masterplan will clearly facilitate the achievement of sustainable development 

given the substantial economic development and employment growth opportunities that this will 

deliver, alongside the ability to mitigate environmental impacts, or even provide enhancements as 

part of the scheme, and the absence of any direct social aspects, aside from those associated with 

the benefits of job creation. 

5.14 In respect of sustainable design and construction Policy PMD12 of the Adopted Thurrock Core 

Strategy and Policies for Management of Development DPD addresses this issue. The Building 

Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM) is the environmental 

assessment tool used to ensure overall environmental performance of non-residential 

developments is achieved and carbon emissions are reduced, with mandatory minimum 

requirements established in 2008.  Policy PMD12 sets the following standards for non-residential 

developments over 1,000 sqm: 

Table 5.3: Thurrock Core Strategy Policy PMD12 BREEAM Requirements 

BREEAM Requirements  
 

BREEAM Very Good up to 2016 
 

BREEAM Excellent from 2016 
 

BREEAM Outstanding from 2019 (in addition to national standards for zero carbon). 
 

 

5.15 The policy states that "these requirements may be relaxed where the developer is able to prove 

that these requirements will be economically unviable, rendering development of the site 

undeliverable.” 

5.16 The policy also requires that planning applications for development will be supported by an Energy 

and Water Statement, covering issues such as water and energy consumption, recycling and use of 

sustainably sourced materials. 

5.17 The SA highlighted that for the B8 development scenario the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions 

performance of buildings would be improved through the application of energy and carbon 

efficiency measures in construction and operation.  To maximise potential GHG emissions benefits, 

BREEAM or equivalent sustainability standards could be set at a high standard to help offset 

inevitable GHG emissions consequences arising from construction.  The incorporation of renewable 

energy as an integral part of B8 units (either photovoltaics (PV) or solar water heating) could be 

considered as an option for individual buildings, as part of the achievement of a high BREEAM 

Page 41



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 18 

rating. To achieve practical uptake of solar electricity generation across any B8 element of the 

scheme, design consideration would need to be given to issues such as building orientation, roof 

structure and area, and the minimisation of obstructions that could over-shadow solar access. 

5.18 The Environmental Technology development could improve its GHG emissions performance using 

similar measures to the B8 elements, working to a high BREEAM standard rating. The 

Environmental Technology units could include benefits beyond this, through new energy generation 

plant development and associated ‘designed-in’ energy infrastructure (for example a heat 

distribution network).  This opportunity to gain secondary benefit from new energy generation plant 

would not exist for a solution based solely on B8 usages. For this reason, the Environmental 

Technology uses benefit from a greater potential for export of heat or electricity than the B8 

scenario, although this potential is only likely to be fully achieved if it explicitly considers spatial 

layout associated with energy distribution infrastructure.  The hybrid approach which is proposed to 

be facilitated through the Masterplan, would allow these benefits to be captured. 

5.19 It should be noted that the BREEAM assessment regime recognises the sustainability advantages 

offered by a wide range of environmental topic areas.  For instance credits are available for 

appropriate approaches to ecological assessment, protection and enhancement, offering scope for 

such planned measures to contribute to achievement of the above target levels. 

 

Higher Education and Skills Development 

5.20 The Joint Venture partners share Thurrock Council’s desire to ensure that the employment 

opportunities offered on Thames Enterprise Park are accessible to local people and that skills can 

be found locally that are required by the specialist sectors that could be accommodated on the site. 

To achieve this, there may be a need to introduce specific, tailored training programmes locally. 

Thurrock Council is encouraged to carry out a workforce planning study to identify the opportunities 

and the support needed to exploit them. 

5.21 It is known that Thurrock Council has recently investigated this issue in relation to the needs of the 

expanding port and logistics industry in the Borough, including the preparation of a consultant study 

into a potential National Skills Academy for Transport, Ports and Logistics.  The nature of the sector 

is expected to change as technological evolution continues, with many new jobs moving away from 

the traditional low skill opportunities to those requiring a range of technical, ICT and/or managerial 

skills and qualifications. 

5.22 The Thames Enterprise Park team, in partnership with officers at Thurrock Council, have 

additionally been proactively investigating opportunities to secure the delivery of appropriate 

training and education programmes to support the potential energy and environmental technologies 

park.  The parties are keen to create a centre of excellence that will underpin development of this 

important growth sector across the borough as a whole, providing an opportunity to up-skill the 

local workforce and, most importantly, provide some employment-related higher education 

opportunities within the borough’s boundaries. 

5.23 Following meetings with relevant industry bodies, such as the Chartered Institute of Waste 

Management (CIWM), Energy & Utilities Skills (EU Skills), and Waste Management Industry 

Training & Advisory Board (WAMITAB), positive discussions have been undertaken with the 

University of Northampton, who are leaders in this field, with formal links to CIWM and WAMITAB.  

Page 42



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 19 

This has led to dialogue between the University and South Essex College, with a view to enabling 

the local delivery of courses up to degree level and with a learning pathway for those starting at a 

lower level. The relationship has resulted in a Memorandum of Understanding between the two 

education providers signed on 2
nd

 July 2014. 

5.24 Opportunities to provide an on-site classroom as part of the Masterplan, to facilitate this 

arrangement, are being explored.  It is envisaged that a "Skills Hub" could be incorporated within 

the area assigned for ancillary uses, given the need for such floorspace to accord with the COMAH 

regulations. 

Page 43



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 20 

6. SUPPORTING STUDIES 

Sustainability Assessment and topic summaries 

6.1 As part of the evidence base formulation and sustainability assessment process a number of topic 

assessments have been carried out, with a limited amount of further assessment also now 

underway in response to consultee comments.  The following table sets out the topic areas covered 

within the sustainability assessment, along with identification of relevant sub-areas, and 

confirmation of the consultants responsible for the respective assessments. 

Table 6.1: Sustainability Assessment Topic Areas and Consultants 

SA Topic Area 
Sub-Areas / Comments 
(where relevant) 

Consultants 

Air Quality & Noise Noise 
Environmental Resources 
Management Limited (ERM) 

 Air Quality ERM 

Biodiversity and Green 
Infrastructure 

 Ecology Solutions 

Climate Change Mitigation 
 

Renewables (Carbon 
footprint/reduction issues) 

ERM 

 Transport Transport Planning Associates 

 Flood Risk HR Wallingford 

Landscape and Heritage Landscape Landscape Partnership 

 Archaeology ERM 

Economy and Employment   Boyer Planning  

Flooding  
High level Flood Risk 
Assessment 

HR Wallingford 

Soil, Contamination & 
Sustainable Land Use 

Ground Conditions ERM 

 Sustainable land use Boyer Planning 

Waste  ERM 

Water Quality & Water 
Resources  

 ERM 

Transport  Transport Planning Associates 

 

6.2 The findings of these assessments are summarised below in order to highlight the issues and 

opportunities identified by this work, including recommendations for mitigation that have been fed 

into the final illustrative Masterplan layout.  Where additional work is underway or proposed this is 

also outlined below.  It should be noted that the approach adopted within the SA considered two 

extreme situations, based on potential scenarios, whereas in reality a hybrid approach, comprising 

a mixture of these uses is envisaged. 

Air Quality 

6.3 Both scenarios assessed would give rise to increased concentrations of traffic-derived pollutants in 

the vicinity of the road network (potentially to different extents). The Environmental Technology 

scenario would in addition cause an increase in concentrations of process-derived pollutants, which 

could lead to additional impacts over a much larger area including on nature conservation sites. 

Page 44



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 21 

6.4 Emissions from any industrial processes in the Environmental Technology scenario could need to 

comply with relevant Air Quality Standards and could be subject to the Environmental Permitting 

Regulations to ensure that the Best Available Techniques to control emissions to air are 

implemented. 

6.5 As part of the eventual Transport Assessment of individual planning applications, consideration will 

be given to measures which can reduce likely road transport emissions. These might include the 

consideration of a Multi-Modal Freight Strategy and other Sustainable Transport measures. The 

potential for transportation of materials to the site by rail or river is also a realistic opportunity for the 

site (particularly in the Environmental Technology scenario where up to 30% of material could be 

transported by rail or river within ten years), which could help to reduce the impact of traffic on the 

local road network and associated emissions.  Additionally, the voluntary specification by operators 

of high Euro category vehicles, particularly HDVs, should be considered together with the potential 

for routing of deliveries to and from the site to avoid the AQMAs. 

Noise 

6.6 Both scenarios include noisy processes during construction and operation of the site. The 

construction phase of either scenario is not likely to affect residential areas due to adequate 

separation distance, if, as expected, construction takes place only during the daytime. During 

operation, both Masterplan scenarios could produce an increase in traffic on The Manorway 

compared to baseline levels. The B8 scenario is likely to produce slightly higher flows of traffic than 

the Environmental Technology scenario, although it is unlikely this increase could be sufficient to 

cause significant noise impacts on noise sensitive receptors in either scenario.  

6.7 The operation of Environmental Technology plant could also generate noise, but design measures 

can be taken to attenuate this to an acceptable level, e.g. appropriate layout and acoustic design of 

cooling. There could be elevated noise levels on the footpath leading to the site, but this is not 

considered particularly sensitive to noise impacts.  

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure 

6.8 The current biodiversity value of the vast majority of the site is negligible, and the emerging 

development proposals provide an opportunity to enhance the value of the ecological site over the 

existing situation. Although there are a number of sensitive ecological receptors both within and 

adjacent to the site, with the adoption of appropriate avoidance, mitigation and enhancement 

measures as required, it is considered that adverse impacts may be avoided.  This approach is 

considered to align with the requirements of Para. 118 of the NPPF, which sets out the key 

principles for the conservation and enhancement of biodiversity that are to be taken into account in 

the determination of future planning applications.  Applicants will therefore need to have regard to 

these principles when undertaking further more detailed survey and assessment work in relation to 

individual planning applications. 

Climate Change Mitigation 

6.9 Both scenarios offer opportunities for greenhouse gas mitigation through application of challenging 

building standards (e.g. BREEAM ratings) and transportation measures (e.g. logistics efficiency 

measures and Travel Plans).  The inclusion of substantial Environmental Technology development 

within the Masterplan naturally provides additional advantages through the harnessing of 

Page 45



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 22 

renewable and environmental technologies and will require a strategic consideration of the 

opportunities for the use of waste heat and electricity export.  

Landscape 

6.10 Due to the visual prominence of the former oil refinery complex it is likely that redevelopment of the 

site would constitute a short term noticeable change in the views from surrounding areas during the 

demolition and construction phases of the project, particularly from the closer proximity views 

(between 2km-4km away).  

6.11 The proposed Environmental Technology/Energy and B8 scenarios are likely to be smaller in scale 

and height compared to the existing structures on the site, however they would be of a similar 

character (industrial buildings with tall emission stacks, certainly in the case of the energy and 

environmental technology uses). It is therefore likely that any significant visual change would only 

be short term, once the development is complete and in operation any visual changes would be 

considered minor.  

6.12 Based on the proposals assessed it is considered that the development would not have a 

significant or a negative impact on the landscape character of the site or surrounding areas. The 

landscape assessment concluded that the removal of Shellhaven Creek would potentially result in a 

significant adverse landscape impact upon this local area, although also advised that, through 

careful design, some reconfiguration of the wider creek area, including a reduction in its size (length 

and breadth) combined with appropriate enhancement in other areas of the site, could achieve a 

more sustainable and functional landscape. This would facilitate more effective management of the 

Creek and other ecological enhancements that would not only benefit biodiversity but also ensure 

an appropriate balance between the form and function of the Shellhaven Creek.  It has been 

clarified within this Final Interim Masterplan that there is no specific proposal to significantly alter 

the form and function of the creek area.  

6.13 The redevelopment provides the opportunity to enhance aspects of the landscape character of the 

site and surrounds as well as mitigate some of the negative effects on local landscape character 

arising from this type of development. Recommendations from the landscape report have 

influenced indicative landscaping approaches, based on consideration of the openness of the 

surrounding environment, and will be taken forward through more detailed proposals in due course. 

Archaeology 

6.14 A desk-based assessment of archaeology and the historic environment has been undertaken, 

plotting the history of the site from the development of the first wetland environment around 7-6,000 

BC, creation of saltmarsh, salt creeks and mudflats that were likely to have been exploited for salt 

production within the Bronze Age, Iron Age and Roman periods, to the first industrial development 

in 1889 and subsequent oil installations from 1916 onwards.   This assessment has concluded that 

most of the site can be considered as being of low heritage sensitivity, although the area around 

Shellhaven Creek, including the former site of Shellhaven House, is of moderate sensitivity.   

6.15 The recommendation that a photographic survey of the refinery site be undertaken prior to 

demolition has been actioned, whilst the deposit modelling of the entire site suggested to be carried 

out to assist understanding the archaeology of the site and to inform future heritage management 

decisions, is also in the process of being instructed.   

Page 46



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 23 

Economy and Employment 

6.16 Having reviewed both development scenarios from an economic and employment perspective, it 

can be concluded that each scenario will provide a variety of employment opportunities for local 

people as well as promoting the economic diversity of the area.  The emphasis on delivering 

training and skills development will ensure that the employment sectors envisaged will be 

adequately catered for in terms of available, suitably skilled staff.  Equally importantly this will also 

ensure that local communities are able to up-skill in order take advantage of these new 

employment opportunities. 

Flooding 

6.17 The site is part of a previously developed area that has been provided with a very high standard of 

protection from tidal flooding.  The probability of tidal flooding is therefore considered to be 

extremely low, whilst the development itself does not affect the probability of tidal flooding.  It is 

acknowledged that individual planning applications may be required to pass the sequential and 

exceptions tests (where applicable) where vulnerable uses are proposed within Flood Zone 3a, and 

that care may be required over the siting of uses within the site.  The management of risk within the 

site through development of a Flood Warning and Evacuation Plan, to be devised in consultation 

with Thurrock Council’s Emergency Planners is also recognised. 

6.18 Whilst surface water flooding is a risk for the site, it is not known to be a significant problem, and 

should be considered further during the detailed design phase of the project, including the potential 

impacts of climate change.  Attenuation measures could include potential ecological mitigation or 

habitat creation, in conjunction with SUDs features as part of the surface water drainage works and 

there will be space to accommodate these features in parts of the site if required.  

6.19 The temporary storage of runoff in the marsh areas to the north of the site means that storm runoff 

generated outside the site is not a flooding concern for the site itself.   

6.20 Groundwater is not considered to present a flood risk to the site or surrounding area.  Although the 

flow rates and volumes of process water discharges can be large they do not represent a risk of 

flooding to the site.  Other than the potential for the local blockage of pipes there is not considered 

to be a significant risk of foul flooding.  Flooding from artificial sources of water is not considered to 

be a risk at this site.   

6.21 In respect of issues arising from tidal water levels combined with fluvial flows on Shellhaven Creek, 

the latter is closed during high tide periods and water is stored in the creek, which is directly 

connected to the marsh area to the north of the site, effectively providing a huge storage area that 

would avoid flooding on the site during high tide periods. 

6.22 The potential culverting of sections of the Shellhaven Creek explored within the Masterplan 

scenarios would reduce the volume available for the storage of flood water from both tidal and 

fluvial sources.  However the reduction in volume caused by filling would be small compared with 

the volume of the marshes and the impacts on flood water levels would be minimal, providing that 

any culverts had sufficient capacity to allow floodwater to pass upstream.  Clarification that 

culverting does not form a specific proposal at this stage is provided within this Final Interim 

Masterplan document. 

Page 47



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 24 

Soil, Contamination and Sustainable Land Use 

6.23 The total amount of land take comprises previously developed land and there is no greenspace 

land take associated with either Masterplan scenario, with proposed development in both instances 

located on made ground. The proposed reinstatement of Green Belt land to the north of the site 

would also be protected in either scenario, as this falls outside of the Masterplan boundary. 

6.24 Overall, whilst the Environmental Technology Masterplan scenario appears to provide a slightly 

higher proportion of green space on completion compared to the B8 scenario, there is little 

difference between the two Masterplan approaches in terms of soils, contamination, ground 

conditions and sustainable land use. The site or scheme design (building foundations) would be 

prepared to the appropriate level for the future end use in either scenario. 

Waste 

6.25 The development of the B8 scenario could provide limited opportunities for both the management of 

waste on-site and the movement of waste up the waste management hierarchy. 

6.26 The development of an all Environmental Technology/Energy scenario could create significant 

waste management capacity within the Thurrock area and could be expected to import a large 

amount of waste into the site.  In order for sustainable waste management opportunities to be 

maximised, it is important that the site is developed in a holistic manner, and that heat and 

electricity distribution infrastructure is incorporated into the plans at an early stage. 

6.27 It is noted that consideration will need to be given to waste policies and guidance at national and 

local levels in relation to some of the potential feedstocks for certain of the energy from waste 

development technologies, where these would be classed as refuse derived fuel (RDF).  Clearly at 

this stage, with the exact mix and scale of such uses unknown, it would not be possible to identify 

the quantum or sources of waste.  As such, individual applications will need to demonstrate 

accordance with relevant policy requirements, including application of the tests of self-sufficiency 

and the proximity principle.  Attention is drawn in particular to the Defra Guidance ‘Energy from 

Waste – a guide to the debate’ (updated February 2014), which sets out Government’s view that 

waste is to be regarded as a valuable resource that should be reused, recycled or from which 

energy should be recovered, with benefits in both diverting waste from landfill and generating 

energy.  

Water Quality and Water Resources 

6.28 There is little to distinguish between the two Masterplan scenarios in terms of water quality and 

resources. For both scenarios, the natural water quality and water resources associated with the 

local estuarine environment will be insufficient to meet the standards required for human usage or 

industrial processes, without significant intervention.  

6.29 On account of the natural hydrological and hydrogeological processes involved, there are 

significant overlaps between this topic, regarding water quality and water resources, and those of 

flooding and soils, contamination, ground conditions and sustainable land use.  Resolution of these 

issues will be progressed collaboratively as part of an integrated approach to drainage, 

groundwater and ecology.  In particular care will be required to ensure that Sustainable Drainage 

Systems are designed so as not to pose a risk to the water environment, where contaminated 

ground may be present. 

Page 48



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 25 

Transport 

6.30 There are differences between the two Masterplan scenarios in terms of overall trip generation and 

the potential to use alternative modes to transport material to the site, which it is anticipated could 

reduce HGV movements by up to 30% for the environmental technology/energy scenario in 

particular, through use of rail and water-based modes.  This scenario also potentially involves the 

displacement of a significant number of HGV movements across the Borough’s highway network. 

For both Masterplan scenarios the local highway network is likely to have the capacity to 

accommodate the initial phases of the development, although mitigation measures may be required 

as the site becomes fully developed. 

6.31 Overall it is considered that the traffic generated by Thames Enterprise Park will be a small 

proportion (between 5% and 10%) of that generated by London Gateway, and needs to be viewed 

in the context of previous levels of activity on the former Coryton refinery site.  Scope exists to 

derive benefit from the site’s location adjacent to the Gateway site through measures to secure 

public transport enhancements and therefore aim to reduce private car journeys. 

6.32 A Technical Note (1402-08-TN04) has been prepared setting out the potential traffic impact which 

could result from the development of Thames Enterprise Park, specifically on the Manorway link 

and A13, following consultee comments. 

6.33 The impact assessment uses 2023 as the baseline assessment year and as the Masterplan for 

Thames Enterprise Park is still evolving, uses three different land use scenarios on which to base 

the calculations: 

 40% Energy and 60% B8; 

 50% Energy and 50% B8; and 

 60% Energy and 40% B8. 

6.34 The Technical Note sets out the trip generation for staff and HGVs, and assesses the potential 

development impact over three periods of the day, having regard to the approach applied to the 

adjoining London Gateway facility.   

6.35 Based on the impact assessment results set out in the note it is likely that the development could 

be required to provide mitigation measures along The Manorway, although the extent and nature of 

any such measures would need to be subject to detailed capacity assessments of the individual 

junctions.  The overall impact on the A13 is significantly less than on The Manorway and as such it 

is less likely that any major mitigation measures will be required. 

6.36 In terms of mitigation measures, this could be as little as additional flare lengths on approach arms 

through to an increased number of entry lanes and the widening of the roundabout or the revision 

of the phasing of the traffic signals to increase capacity while minimising any potential delay. Any 

improvements to the local junctions would be subject to design and detailed capacity assessments 

at the individual junctions. 

6.37 It is considered that the initial phases of development within Thames Enterprise Park are unlikely to 

require any significant mitigation measures to the local highway network. As the development is 

built out and occupied then the required mitigation measures will be implemented to ensure that 

there is sufficient capacity at the key junctions to ensure that there are minimal increases in delays 

Page 49



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 26 

and queuing. The phasing and the extent of the mitigation measures will be identified through the 

detailed capacity assessments which will be undertaken as part of the planning application.  

6.38 It should be noted that the number of HGV movements could be significantly reduced through the 

use of the rail sidings at Thames Enterprise Park and also through utilising the berths located along 

the banks of the River Thames.  The implementation of a site Travel Plan is also likely to reduce 

the number of car trips to and from the site which could further reduce the impact along The 

Manorway, particularly during the London Gateway peak hour. 

6.39 Further non-physical measures could include altering the working patterns so that the shift patterns 

differ to those proposed at the London Gateway, further reducing the impact on the local highway 

network during the assessment periods. 

6.40 It is acknowledged that the Thames Enterprise Park proposals will have an impact on the local 

highway network, but that through both physical and non-physical mitigation measures, it is 

considered that the overall impact can be managed to ensure that local junctions are able to 

operate within capacity during peak times. 

 

Other potential validation requirements at application stage 

6.41 Thurrock Council provides a checklist of validation requirements for planning applications, which 

includes items such as transport, landscape and visual, and flood impact assessment.  In reality 

however, all future planning applications that come forward for individual developments on the site 

are likely to require Environmental Impact Assessment which will cover the majority of the 

assessments required.  Each application will therefore need to submit Environmental Statements in 

support of proposals, notwithstanding that formal screening will be needed to establish this on an 

application by application basis.   

6.42 It is considered that the above assessments will be beneficial in identifying topics to be scoped in or 

out of any future EIA assessments.  The diagram at Figure 6.1 sets out the process each individual 

site would be required to address during the EIA process. 

 

Page 50



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 27 

7. THE MASTERPLAN 

Framework Proposals 

7.1 As noted previously, the Final Interim Masterplan presents an illustrative Masterplan layout which 

shows the form that development could take.  This indicatively presents a hybrid mix of uses 

drawing from those discussed in the preceding section, based broadly on a 60:40 ratio of 

Environmental Technology/Energy to B8 uses, in addition to other ancillary uses. During its 

formulation the SA process has assessed two theoretical extreme development scenarios, based 

on Environmental Technology/Energy and B8 Warehouse and Distribution scenarios respectively.  

These scenarios are both included within the SA report.   

7.2 Solena Fuels, in partnership with British Airways, is looking to build the world’s first facility to 

convert landfill waste into jet fuel, in a project named “GreenSky London”, and has chosen Thames 

Enterprise Park as its preferred location because of the transport links and infrastructure available, 

in addition to the clear synergy with the existing and proposed activities at the site.  This ground-

breaking fuel project will revolutionise the production of sustainable aviation fuel, through the 

conversion of post-recycled waste, normally destined for landfill or incineration and currently 

exported through the Thurrock ports of Tilbury and Purfleet, into clean burning liquid fuels using 

Solena’s innovative integrated technology.  This represents a significant capital investment 

underwritten by an 11 year $550m offtake with British Airways which would secure 150 permanent 

full-time jobs. 

7.3 Consideration has also been given to the findings of an assessment of issues relating to the Control 

of Major Accident Hazards (COMAH) Regulations that has been undertaken, in view of the nature 

of the current and potential new uses on the site.  Specialist risk management consultants DNV has 

prepared a quantitative risk assessment and consequence modelling of the existing uses and 

proposed development scenarios to ensure that Masterplanning proceeds on the basis of identified 

land use constraints within the site, having regard to relevant Health and Safety Executive (HSE) 

guidance. 

7.4 The plan at Figure 7.2 shows the HSE consultation zones that have been plotted as part of that 

assessment in relation to relevant existing facilities in the wider complex, namely Calor Gas Ltd 

(H0289) and Shell UK Products Ltd (Shell Haven) (H0504 rev 1). 

7.5 Applying HSE guidance contained within land use planning advice around large-scale petroleum 

storage sites the careful siting of certain uses (principally around occupied buildings) within the 

Masterplan has been necessary.  This is, however, confined to the following uses regarded as 

Sensitivity Level 2, which may not be considered acceptable in either the Development Proximity 

Zone or the Inner Zone: 

 Offices with more than 100 occupants or more than 3 storeys; 

 Retail, food and drink or education with floorspace greater than 250 sqm. 

7.6 It is noted that the consultation response provided by the HSE in relation to the Interim Masterplan 

highlighted constraints to development in this regard, confirming the principles outlined above.  

Whilst these issues are therefore recognised it will not be possible to reflect these comments in 

precise terms at this stage, given that the scope, scale and location of activities at both the Thames 

Page 51



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 28 

Oilport facility and Thames Enterprise Park are still evolving.  It will therefore be necessary to adapt 

and further develop the detailed layout as matters become more firmly defined, whilst 

acknowledging the need for proposals for individual schemes within the Thames Enterprise Park 

site to have due regard to the latest information available as a key determinate of the siting and 

design of buildings and the location of different land use activities within the site.  

7.7 Consideration has also been given to other potential constraints, such as the presence of 

Shellhaven Creek separating the western site from the main part of the site as a whole.   

7.8 It was previously suggested that the creek could potentially be culverted in parts to assist 

connectivity between the two sites and to maximise the developable land in a manner which would 

not harm any drainage function, albeit noting that the Sustainability Assessment had highlighted 

that it would be desirable to limit the extent and impacts of any such works having regard to 

ecology, landscape and heritage considerations.  Equally it was proposed that substantial areas of 

the open space associated with the creek would be the focus of ecological enhancement, ensuring 

net biodiversity benefits. 

7.9 Following a range of consultee comments on this particular aspect, it is evident that this feature is 

regarded as being sensitive for the reasons previously acknowledged.  As such it is considered that 

further clarification on the intended approach to the Shellhaven Creek would be of assistance, not 

least as the theoretical development scenario plans utilised within the SA had perhaps implied a 

greater degree of impact within this area of the site.  Clarification is therefore set out below. 

7.10 The overriding principle remains that of seeking to protect and enhance the creek and its setting 

both in landscape and ecological terms, as previously stated, and reflected in the illustrative hybrid 

layout plan.  Culverting is not specifically proposed, and if deemed essential in operational terms, 

would be required to present full justification and associated mitigation measures to the satisfaction 

of Thurrock Council, who will have regard to advice from relevant statutory consultees.  It is 

however considered that limited additional bridging of the creek, spanning this area without directly 

impacting upon it in physical terms, would be acceptable in principle, subject to these same 

considerations at application stage.  It is also noted that care will be required over the siting of 

buildings close to the creek area, both during the construction and operational phases of 

development to ensure that disturbance is minimised or appropriately mitigated. 

 

Layout principles 

7.11 In view of the flexible, non-prescriptive nature of the Masterplan and the illustrative hybrid layout 

that provides visual representation of this, attention is given to key layout principles of a more 

general nature that are to be established, in relation to aspects such as the structure of spaces 

between buildings or parcels or common design features that will serve to provide a sense of place 

and order to the Thames Enterprise Park. 

7.12 In order to serve all development parcels, as well as ensuring that appropriate access is provided to 

the Thames Oilport areas to the north and east, a simple hierarchy of primary and secondary roads 

has been indicatively presented.  A new road connection between the western site and main part of 

the site may be proposed to ensure enhanced operational efficiency.  Where possible, separate 

access to each plot for staff car parking and for HGVs for loading and unloading is also proposed to 

secure appropriate segregation and avoid conflicts. 

Page 52



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 29 

7.13 Primary roads will have greater width and provide significant opportunities for greening of the 

environment, which the secondary roads will also achieve to a lesser extent.  It is envisaged that 

the potential structure that could be created would include bunding and landscape planting, both of 

which offer potential ecological benefits, including habitat that would support invertebrate interest 

within the wider area, not least through the corridor effect that this would create in addition to 

resulting in a pleasant and attractive environment that will assist in attracting commercial occupiers 

to the site. 

7.14 In addition to such corridors, areas of the site will also become incidental open space, with either 

providing opportunities for the incorporation of sustainable drainage features.  Specific areas for 

ecological enhancement, which will be set out and actively managed in order to maximise 

biodiversity gains, are also specified within the Masterplan layout.  These are shown to be located 

in the area of Shellhaven Creek and to the north-west of the roundabout at the gateway entrance to 

the complex, providing considerable scope for positive enhancement in visual and ecological terms.  

It is proposed that the final Masterplan document will include a more detailed specification of the 

green spaces within the site, both in terms of those associated with the road layout and these other 

opportunities.  This is considered appropriate on the basis that such features will fall to be 

implemented by Thames Enterprise Park as a key part of the framework for the site as a whole. 

7.15 It is envisaged that further refinement of the Masterplan document will provide additional guidance 

for the achievement of a cohesive Thames Enterprise Park so that the eventual development 

avoids the feel and disjointed visual appearance of a piecemeal approach.  It is envisaged that 

such measures could include the identification of common design elements (materials, colour 

schemes and unit numbering protocols – based on a grid or defined sub-area approach), although 

will stop short of the definition of prescriptive requirements or the preparation of design codes, 

which it is felt would be too restrictive at this stage. 

7.16 The desirability of incorporating guidance on the overall scale parameters for the Thames 

Enterprise Park, primarily in respect of maximum building and stack heights, is a further element 

that has been noted from consultation responses, which would assist in setting a benchmark for 

consideration of future planning applications, and associated EIAs. This would enable potential 

zoning within the site to be defined in order to reflect the general openness of the boundaries, 

which has currently been respected within the landscaping arrangements through the avoidance of 

screen planting given the relationship with the open marshland environment to the north, 

highlighted within the landscape assessment work. 

 

Long Term Change & Phasing of Development 

7.17 Since acquisition of the site by the joint venture partners in September 2012 work has focused on 

the “make safe” of the refinery processing asset, the reconfiguration and refurbishment of the future 

Thames Oilport import terminal (previously an integral part of the refinery assets), the development 

of a vision for Thames Enterprise Park, demolition and clearance of redundant above ground 

infrastructure and responding to a significant number of un-marketed enquiries for the current and 

future available land. 

7.18 The vision for the development of the Thames Enterprise Park was initially significantly influenced 

by the propensity of enquiries towards the Environmental Technology sector due to the site’s 

Page 53



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 30 

location in the Essex hinterland, its proximity to the import terminal of Thames Oilport, the industrial 

symbiosis opportunities and the multi modal links to and from the site. However, since the opening 

of the London Gateway Port next door and the improvement in the UK economic situation, further 

significant enquiries have been made from other business sectors, including power generation, 

R&D and liquid fuel storage and processing, as well as logistics/distribution activities, both 

independent of and complementary to London Gateway. Each of these business sectors offer 

sizeable opportunities as well as significant challenges to clear and develop a substantial site in 

order to create a thriving business hub offering high skilled jobs, sustainable growth potential and 

industrial symbiosis within a fully integrated and serviced environment. 

7.19 In terms of development phasing, as a consequence of the previous activity of the site, there are 

significant constraints to the immediate development of large parts of the site due to the presence 

of the former refinery plant, in addition to the ongoing development of the Thames Oilport import 

terminal.  As regards the refinery process structures and associated boilerhouse and LPG storage 

tanks, a demolition contract has been executed and demolition activities have commenced, 

following the securing of prior approval from Thurrock Council.  This contract still enables units and 

equipment to be dismantled and sold for re-building in new locations subject to this being 

compatible with the demolition schedule.  However, the West Site, which lies to the south west of 

the former refinery land and adjacent to the London Gateway Port (approximately 105 acres), is 

largely clear of any major structure and could be delivered to the market much sooner, whilst other 

parts of the refinery site are also more advanced in terms of site clearance. 

7.20 It is anticipated that the development of the Thames Enterprise Park site will take place over many 

years (probably 15 years plus) on a phased basis, recognising the issues outlined above. Indicative 

timescales are shown in the table below. 

 
Table 7.1: Indicative Phasing Timescales 

Indicative Phasing 
 

Phase 1 – West Site – 2015/16  onwards 

Phase 2 – Refinery and central area – 2017/18 onwards (demolition from 2014) 

Phase 3 – Eastern area – 2019/20 onwards 

 

Transport and Access 

7.21 The site is located in a sustainable location on the northern bank of the Thames Estuary, as noted 

within Section 2 of this report.  In the immediate area, Stanford-le-Hope is located approximately 

7km to the west, Corringham is approximately 5km to the north-west and Canvey Island is 

approximately 4.5km to the east.   

7.22 The variety of modes of transport that could be used to access the site, emphasising the potential 

range available, are reviewed below. 

Road Links 

7.23 The site is located at the eastern end of the Manorway (A1014), which provides access to the A13.  

The A13 provides access to the M25 to the west, via junction 30, which in turn provides access to 

the wider motorway network which enables vehicles to travel to all parts of the country.  The towns 

of Grays and Thurrock are also accessible via the A13 to the west. 

Page 54



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 31 

7.24 To the east the A13 provides access to Basildon, Canvey Island and Southend-on-Sea, via the 

A127, as well as the wider trunk road network which serves Essex and beyond. 

Pedestrian 

7.25 Corringham is located beyond the accepted 2km distance for walking from the site.  However, there 

is a shared foot/cycleway from Corringham along the northern side of Manorway, which continues 

to the entrance roundabout to the site. 

7.26 Through Corringham there are a series of footways which provide access to the residential areas.  

These footways also provide access to Stanford-le-Hope and the railway station. 

Cycle 

7.27 The site is within an acceptable cycling distance of Corringham, but is slightly beyond the 

acceptable 5km threshold from Stanford-le-Hope rail station. 

7.28 The Thurrock Cycle Map suggests a number of road routes for cyclists which also provide access 

to the shared foot/cycleway which runs along the northern side of the Manorway from Corringham 

to the site. 

Bus 

7.29 Bus route 300 currently serves the site, providing a service from Basildon to London Gateway 

(Gate 3) via Stanford-le-Hope train station.  The service takes approximately 10 minutes from the 

site to the railway station.  There are also a number of other bus services which serve Stanford-le-

Hope and Corringham, providing services from Grays, Basildon, Chelmsford and Lakeside 

Shopping Centre. 

7.30 The closest bus stops to the site are currently located on Giffords Cross Road and Lampits Hill 

(B1420), to the north-west of the site. 

Train 

7.31 Rail services are available from Stanford-le-Hope train station located approximately 6.5km from 

the site.  Trains from Stanford-le-Hope train station depart to London Fenchurch Street and 

Southend Central every 30 minutes in both directions.  A journey time of 51 minutes can be 

expected when travelling from Stanford-le-Hope to Fenchurch Street Station, whilst for Southend 

Central; the journey takes 25 minutes. 

7.32 Rail sidings are located within the site, which were previously used to transport goods into and 

liquid fuel out of the refinery site.  These have been disused for a number of years, however there 

is potential for the rail sidings to be reutilised in the future for either the Thames Oilport or Thames 

Enterprise Park sites, subject to further detailed discussions with Network Rail, DB Schenker and 

London Gateway as appropriate in respect of use of the rail track to Stanford-le-Hope and Marcroft 

sidings and any potential impacts on the wider rail network. 

River (via the jetties) 

7.33 The site benefits from having wharfs on the Thames Estuary. 

7.34 A number of the wharfs were used in association with the refinery site as well as a number of 

wharfs which have not been used recently but could be refurbished and re-utilised.  All these 

Page 55



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 32 

wharfs could be used in the future for either the Thames Oilport or Thames Enterprise Park 

developments. 

Oil Pipelines 

7.35 Whilst not a standard mode of transport as such, the availability of access to the UKOP and GPSS 

facilities does represent a significant opportunity to distribute fuels in a manner which will clearly 

offset and reduce the need for and reliance upon other less sustainable modes. 

 

Delivery and Implementation 

7.36 It is anticipated that responsibility for delivery and implementation of common elements of site 

infrastructure, such as ecological enhancement, mitigation and management, open space, site-wide 

drainage, the construction of roads and securing of utilities, will be taken in part by the Consortium, 

but also in part by a specialist property developer.  This will ensure that land is brought forward with 

the benefit of these key services, and also that an element of control is retained over the form and 

ongoing maintenance of key areas and the general structure of the site. In some cases elements of 

the above may also be delivered jointly with tenants and occupiers to reflect their specific site 

needs and/or enhancements. 

7.37 Aside from the aforementioned infrastructure elements it is envisaged that parcels within the 

Thames Enterprise Park site will ultimately come forward individually, and will therefore be the 

subject of separate planning applications. 

7.38 Assuming its further endorsement by Thurrock Council, it is considered that the Masterplan will 

form a material consideration against which such applications would be assessed, in addition to the 

policy provisions of the NPPF and the Thurrock Local Plan, as the starting place for the 

determination of planning applications. 

7.39 Given the overall scale of development associated with the site as a whole, and therefore the scope 

for cumulative impacts associated with the combined effects of the development of individual 

parcels within the site and with the adjoining London Gateway site, it is likely that all applications 

will be regarded as EIA development, requiring preparation of an Environmental Statement.  

Further consideration has been given to this issue within Section 6.  

Infrastructure and Mitigation Framework 

7.40 Within the preceding sections and through the consultation responses made by various consultees 

during the preparation of the Masterplan and associated Sustainability Assessment reference has 

been made to a range of potential infrastructure requirements, mitigation measures and additional 

assessment work that could be undertaken in due course.  Whilst it is not necessarily possible or 

appropriate to precisely define such measures at this stage it is considered that identification of 

these items within a summary table would serve as useful acknowledgement that the need for 

additional investigation of these has been recognised at this high level master planning stage. 

7.41 The following table therefore sets out these issues in this context: 

 

 

Page 56



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 33 

Table 7.2: Indicative Infrastructure, further Assessment and Mitigation Framework 

Item Comments 

 

Ecology mitigation and enhancement 

strategy  

To focus on Shellhaven Creek, Manorway Fleet 

Reedbed LWS, area to north of roundabout and 

scope to incorporate appropriate habitat and 

species planting within street hierarchy landscaping 

structure and SUDs 

 

Preparation of Sustainability statements  Showing achievement of BREEAM requirements 

and specific Energy and Water Statements in 

accordance with Policy PMD12 

 

Maximise Solar electricity generation Consideration of building orientation, roof structure 

etc. to facilitate 

 

Maximise internal energy and heat capture 

across TEP 

Hybrid approach provides opportunities and will be 

dependent on careful consideration of relationship 

between uses to facilitate 

 

Training and skills Workplace planning study to be undertaken in 

relation to Environmental Technology sector; 

Opportunities to incorporate on-site class-room 

within Skills Hub to be explored 

 

Multi-modal Freight Strategy and other 

sustainable Transport measures 

Ensure scope to maximise use of modes other than 

road, including river and rail for freight, and public 

transport and cycling for employees, is fully 

explored and implemented  

 

Potential highway mitigation measures Consider need for potential works to increase 

highway junction capacity, such as additional flare 

lengths on approach arms, increased entry lanes or 

re-phasing of signals towards latter phases of 

development 

Air Quality mitigation Routing of deliveries to avoid AQMAs and 

voluntary use of high Euro category HGVs 

 

Page 57



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 34 

Noise mitigation Investigate need for and nature of potential noise 

mitigation associated with increased road traffic 

levels on The Manorway if required, and any 

necessary design measures relating to on-site 

processes 

 

Landscaping strategy To recognise the openness of the site boundaries 

and ensure appropriateness of planting consistent 

with this rather than seeking to screen 

development 

 

Archaeology actions Ensure that recommendations for a photographic 

record of the former refinery site and the 

undertaking of deposit modelling of the site are 

actioned and appropriately inform future 

development proposals 

 

Flood risk management Undertake sequential and exceptions tests in 

support of future applications as applicable; 

develop Flood Warning and Evacuation plans in 

consultation with Emergency Planning team at 

Thurrock Council; progression of a site-wide SUDs 

strategy for surface water drainage 

 

Ground conditions actions Ensure that appropriate further assessment of 

ground conditions is undertaken to inform individual 

planning applications, with regard to contamination, 

remediation measures and appropriate foundation 

design 

 

Accordance with Waste policies Individual applications will need to demonstrate 

accordance with relevant policy requirements 

depending on the nature of the process proposed 

and associated waste sources involved 

 

Water Framework Directive Assessment Ensure that further assessment against the Water 

Framework Directive is undertaken as necessary 

 

Review and update COMAH Zones Review the COMAH Zones associated with the 

Page 58



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 

 35 

storage of hazardous substances, and the site 

profile changes over time and consider any 

required on-site mitigation measures to ensure 

accordance with HSE guidance 

 

 

  

Page 59



 

Page 60



FIGURE 1.1 – SITE LOCATION PLAN 

  

Page 61



 

 

Page 62



Oozedam

Drain

Drain

Drain

Dr
ai

n

Drain

Drain

Dr
ai

nDr
ai

n

Dr
ai

n

Drain
Drain

Drain

Drain

Dr
ai

n

Drain

D
ra

in

FB

Mud

Mean Low Water

Park
Car

Thames Haven

Jetties

M
ud

Mud

M
ud

Flood
Barrier

M
HW

Ho
le

ha
ve

n

Track

M
H

W

Mud

Track

Mud

Mean
Low

W
ater

M
LW

Co Const & UA Bdy

Co Const
East Haven

Creek

& CP Bdy

Const

Mud

Mud

CreekShellhaven

2m

3m

Mud

MHW

Tracks

M
HW

MHW

M
HW

Mud

Mud

Mud

Mean Low W
ater

Outfall

Jetty

Drain

Dr
ai

n

Outfall

Upper Horse

Mean High Water

Co
 C

on
st

 B
dy

MHW

Track

Track

Track

Drain

Sl

Mud

Mud
East

Tip

Shellhaven Point

Jetty

Lower Horse

MHW

Works

Farm
Northwick

Creek
Haven

Path

Track

Tr
ac

k

2m

(disused)
Workings

& 
CP

 B
dy

Bo
ro

 C
on

st

Works

Path

M
LW

Mud

Drain

DA
HTRO

IW
N

Drain

Drain

Drain

Dr
ain

D
ra

in

Drain

Dra
in

D
ra

in

Drain

Drai
n

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

D
ra

in

Drain

D
ra

in

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain
Drain

Drain

Sewage

RKC O

Drain

D
rain

Drain

Drain

D
rain

Drain

D
ra

in

DrainEl Sub Sta

Drain

D
ra

in

D
rain

Drain

D
rain

Drain

Drain

Mud

Drain

Drain

Drain

Depot

DrainDrai
n

Drain

D
rain

Drain

D
ra

in

Drain
D

ra
in

Drain

Drain

Drain
Sluice

D
ra

in

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

Dr
ai

n

Drain

Dr
ai

n

Drain
Drain

Jetty

Holehaven Creek

VangeBarrier

Fobbing
Horse

Drai
n

Drain

Creek

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

D
rain

Drain

Drai
n

Flood

D
rain

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

Jetty

Mean High Water

Jetty
Jetty

Drain LC

2m

DrainD
rain

Drains

Water

Dr
ain

Drain

D
ra

in

LC

Jetty

D
rain

D
ra

in

Shell Haven

Drain

D
rain

Dr
ai

n

Drain

Mud

Drain

Jetty

Shell Haven

Mean High Water

MHW

Mean High Water

MHW

Path

Fl Sk

Track

UA Bdy

Drains

Drain

Track

Path
Track

Shelly
Bay

Track

Track

Depot
Storage

Oil

Sl

Fleet

Manorway

Dra
in

Sl

Sls
Mud

3m

2m

3m

3m

4m

2m

2m

Drains

MLW

(dis)

Path

Sl

Jetty

D
rain

C
re

ek

2m

2m

Drain
Drain

Canvey
Island

2m

Drains

Drain

A1014

D
rain

Path

M
ud

Boro

Fo
bb

in
g

C
re

ek

M
H

W

M
ud

Dr
ai

n Sls

Sl

Drain

Tr
ac

k

Path

Path

Path

Fobbing
Marshes

Pa
th

Track

Sl

Tr
ac

k

A3

Client

LEGEND

\\MARTIN\Boyer Planning\Project Folders\13.646 Thames Enterprise Park\4 Boyer Planning\4.05 CAD Drawings\Working\13-646 - (002 RevA) Figure 1-1 Site Location.dwg  - A3 Landscape

Site Boundary

-
-
-

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of Ordnance Survey on
behalf of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright AR 100007250

Boyer Planning Ltd, Crowthorne House, Nine Mile Ride, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 3GZ

Date Drawn Checked Authorised

Number ScaleRev.

Drawing Title

Project Title

Thames Enterprise Park,
Thurrock

FIGURE 1:1
Site Location Plan

18 May 2015 BDC SW SW

14.237/002 A 1:12,500 @ A3

Rev Date Description
- 14/05/15 First Issue

Drawn
BDC

Thurrock Boundary

London Gateway Port

The Manorway (A1014)

London Gateway Logistics Park

Thames Haven Branch Railway Link

0 200 400

100 300 500m

A 18/05/15 Site boundary amended BDC

P
age 63



 

P
age 64



FIGURE 2.1 – SITE CONTEXT PLAN 

  

Page 65



 

 

Page 66



A1
3

A1014

570000 572000 574000 576000 578000 580000

17
80

00
18

00
00

18
20

00
18

40
00

18
60

00

DRAWN: AZ
CHECKED: CB
APPROVED: AB

PROJECT: 0223243

Figure 2.1
Environmental Features within 2km of Site

Site Boundary
2km Site Buffer
A Road
Ancient Woodland
Country Parks
Local Nature Reserves (LNR)
Green Belt Land
Ramsar
Special Protection Areas (SPA)
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)
Proposed Green Belt Land, 
Thurrock Core Strategy Broad 
Locations and Strategic Sites 
Focussed Review (Jan 2013)

0 0.5 1 1.5
Kilometers

SOURCE: Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, i-cubed, USDA, USGS, AEX, Getmapping, Aerogrid, IGN, IGP, swisstopo, and the GIS User Community

SCALE:

Path: T:\Projects\0223243TEPEnvironmentalStatmentGIS_AZ_MW\MAPS\Figure 2 - European and Other Designated Sites within 2km of Thames Oil Port.mxd

PR
OJ

EC
TIO

N:
 Br

itis
h N

ati
on

al 
Gr

id

VERSION: A02
SIZE: A3

DATE: 03/04/2014

1:35,000

CLIENT:

LEGEND:
Wat Tyler
Country Park

Vange & Fobbing Marshes
SSSI

Canvey Wick
SSSI

Holehaven Creek
SSSI

Thames Estuary and Marshes
Ramsar, SPA and SSSI

Holehaven Creek
SSSI

Thames Estuary and Marshes
Ramsar, SPA and SSSI

Thames Estuary and Marshes
Ramsar, SPA and SSSI

Shellhaven Creek

P
age 67



 

P
age 68



FIGURE 5.1 – CONSTRAINTS PLAN 

Page 69



 

Page 70



Oozedam

Drain

Drain

Drain

Dr
ai

n

Drain

Drain

Dr
ai

nDr
ai

n

Dr
ai

n

Drain
Drain

Drain

Drain

Dr
ai

n

Drain

D
ra

in

FB

Mud

Mean Low Water

Park
Car

Thames Haven

Jetties

M
ud

Mud

M
ud

Flood
Barrier

M
HW

Ho
le

ha
ve

n

Track

M
H

W

Mud

Track

Mud

Mean Low
W

ater

M
LW

Co Const & UA Bdy

Co Const
East Haven

Creek

& CP Bdy

Const

Mud

Mud

CreekShellhaven

2m

3m

Mud

MHW

Tracks

M
HW

MHW

M
HW

Mud

Mud

Mud

Mean Low W
ater

Outfall

Jetty

Drain

Dr
ai

n

Outfall

Upper Horse

Mean High Water

Co
 C

on
st

 B
dy

MHW

Track

Track

Track

Drain

Sl

Mud

Mud East

Tip

Shellhaven Point

Jetty

Lower Horse

MHW

Works

Farm
Northwick

Creek
Haven

Path

Track

Tr
ac

k

2m

(disused)
Workings

& 
CP

 B
dy

Bo
ro

 C
on

st

Works

Path

M
LW

Mud

Drain

DA
HTRO

IW
N

Drain

Drain

Drain

Dr
ain

D
ra

in

Drain

Drain

Dra
inD

ra
in

Drain

Drai
n

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

D
ra

in

Drain

D
ra

in

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain
Drain

Drain

Sewage

RKC O

Drain

D
rain

Drain

Drain

D
rain

Drain

D
ra

in

DrainEl Sub Sta

Drain

D
ra

in

D
rain

Drain

D
rain

Drain

Drain

Mud

Drain

Drain

Drain

Depot

DrainDrai
n

Drain

D
rain

Drain

D
ra

in

Drain

D
ra

in

Drain

Drain

Drain
Sluice

D
ra

in

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

Dr
ai

n

Drain

Dr
ai

n

Drain
Drain

Jetty

Holehaven Creek

VangeBarrier

Fobbing
Horse

Drai
n

Drain

Creek

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

D
rain

Drain

Drai
n

Flood

D
rain

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

Mean High Water

Jetty
Jetty

Drain LC

2m

DrainD
rain

Drains

Dr
ain

Drain

D
ra

in

LC

Jetty

D
rain

D
ra

in

Shell Haven

Drain

D
rain

Dr
ai

n

Drain

Mud

Drain

Jetty

Shell Haven

Mean High Water

MHW

Mean High Water

MHW

Path

Fl Sk

Track

UA Bdy

Drains

Drain

Track

Path
Track

Shelly
Bay

Track

Track
Depot

Storage
Oil

Sl

Fleet

Manorway

Dra
in

Sl

Sls
Mud

3m

2m

3m

3m

4m

2m

2m

Drains

MLW

(dis)

Path

Sl

Jetty

D
rain

C
re

ek

2m

2m

Drain
Drain

Canvey
Island

2m

Drains

Drain

A1014

D
rain

Path

M
ud

Boro

Fo
bb

in
g

C
re

ek

M
H

W

M
ud

Dr
ai

n Sls

Sl

Drain

Tr
ac

k

Path

Path

Path

Fobbing
Marshes

Pa
th

Track

Sl

Tr
ac

k

A3

Client

LEGEND

\\MARTIN\Boyer Planning\Project Folders\13.646 Thames Enterprise Park\4 Boyer Planning\4.05 CAD Drawings\Working\13-646 - (101 RevB) Figure 5-1 Constraints Plan.dwg  - A3 Landscape

Site Boundary

-
-
-

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of Ordnance Survey on
behalf of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright AR 100007250

Boyer Planning Ltd, Crowthorne House, Nine Mile Ride, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 3GZ

Date Drawn Checked Authorised

Number ScaleRev.

Drawing Title

Project Title

Thames Enterprise Park,
Thurrock

FIGURE 5:1
Constraints Plan

18 May 2015 BDC CP MC

13.646/101 B 1:12,500 @ A3

Rev Date Description
- 14/05/15 First Issue

Drawn
BDC

The Manorway

Railway Line

London Gateway Port and Logistics Park

Heritage Asset - Scheduled Monument

Green Belt

Environmental Enhancement
Opportunities
Protection of Shellhaven Creek

0 200 400

100 300 500m

Proposed Green Belt

Openness of Site Boundaries

Gateway to Site

TEP Land

A 18/05/15 Site boundary amended BDC
B 18/05/15 Plan amendments BDC

P
age 71



 

P
age 72



FIGURE 6.1 – EIA PROCESS DIAGRAM 

Page 73



 

Page 74



Final Interim Masterplan | Thames Enterprise Park 
 

 36 

Figure 6.1: EIA Process Diagram 

 

 

Screening:  
 

Decide whether EIA 
is necessary 

 

Scoping:  
 

Decide key 
environmental 

issues 

 

Baseline: 
 

Collect information 
on existing 

environment 

 

Assessment: 
 

Assess impacts of 
project on 

environment 

  

Mitigation: 
 

Propose measures 
to deal with adverse 

impacts 

  

Presentation: 
 

Present in 
Environmental 

Statement 

  

Determination: 
Appraisal of 

environmental 
information and 

planning application 

  

Monitoring: 
 

Monitor if permission 
is granted 

The EIA Process 

Page 75



 

Page 76



FIGURE 7.1 – ILLUSTRATIVE HYBRID LAYOUT AND 

INDICATIVE LAND USE PLAN 

Page 77



 

Page 78



A3

\\MARTIN\Boyer Planning\Project Folders\13.646 Thames Enterprise Park\4 Boyer Planning\4.05 CAD Drawings\Working\13-646 - (164 RevF) Figure 7-1 Masterplans.dwg  - 164-1 (Illustrative)

Client

Thames Enterprise Park

Rev Date Description
- 14/05/15 First Issue

Drawn
BDC

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of Ordnance Survey on
behalf of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright AR 100007250

Boyer Planning Ltd, Crowthorne House, Nine Mile Ride, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 3GZ

Date Drawn Checked Authorised

Number ScaleRev.

E N V I R O N M E N T A L   P L A N N E R S   &   D E V E L O P M E N T   C O N S U L T A N T S

15 De Grey Square
De Grey Road
Colchester, Essex
CO4 5YQ

TEL: 01206 769018
FAX: 01206 564746

Drawing Title

Project Title

colchester@boyerplanning.co.uk

cardiff | colchester | london | twickenham | wokingham

Thames Enterprise Park,
Thurrock

FIGURE 7:1
Concept Masterplan - Illustrative

18 May 2015 BDC SW SP

13.646/164-1 F 1:10,000 @ A3

LEGEND

Site Boundary

0

50 100 200 300 400m

E 18/05/15 Site boundary amended BDC
F 18/05/15 Plan amendments BDC

P
age 79



 

P
age 80



E

L

K

F
J

A

B

D

WT

G
H

06

08

02

03

04

28
2726

2524
23

12
09

11
10

22

13

21
14

15

16
17

181920

OF3

01
31

33
34

32

OF1

OF2

MU

C

07

05

29
30

M

35

A3

\\MARTIN\Boyer Planning\Project Folders\13.646 Thames Enterprise Park\4 Boyer Planning\4.05 CAD Drawings\Working\13-646 - (164 RevF) Figure 7-1 Masterplans.dwg  - 164-2 (Land Use)

Client

Thames Enterprise Park

Rev Date Description
- 14/05/15 First Issue

Drawn
BDC

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of Ordnance Survey on
behalf of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright AR 100007250

Boyer Planning Ltd, Crowthorne House, Nine Mile Ride, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 3GZ

Date Drawn Checked Authorised

Number ScaleRev.

E N V I R O N M E N T A L   P L A N N E R S   &   D E V E L O P M E N T   C O N S U L T A N T S

15 De Grey Square
De Grey Road
Colchester, Essex
CO4 5YQ

TEL: 01206 769018
FAX: 01206 564746

Drawing Title

Project Title

colchester@boyerplanning.co.uk

cardiff | colchester | london | twickenham | wokingham

Thames Enterprise Park,
Thurrock

FIGURE 7:1
Concept Masterplan - Land Use

18 May 2015 BDC SW SP

13.646/164-2 F 1:10,000 @ A3

LEGEND

B8 Distribution and Storage

Car Parking

Water Treatment Plant

Retail

Main Infrastructure

Site Boundary

Energy From Waste

Office Blocks

0

50 100 200 300 400m

Open Space

HGV Service Yard

E 18/05/15 Site boundary amended BDC
F 18/05/15 Plan amendments BDC

P
age 81



 

P
age 82



FIGURE 7.2 HSE CONSULTATION ZONES PLAN 

Page 83



 

Page 84



Oozedam

Drain

Drain

Dr
ai

n

Drain

Drain

Dr
ai

nDr
ai

n

Dr
ai

n

Drain
Drain

Drain

Drain

Dr
ai

n

Drain

D
ra

in

FB

Mud

Mean Low Water

Park
Car

Thames Haven

Jetties

M
ud

Ho
le

ha
ve

n
M

H
WMud

Co Const & UA Bdy

Mud

Mud

CreekShellhaven

2m

3m

Mud

MHW

Tracks

M
HW

MHW

M
HW

Mud

Mud

Mud

Mean Low W
ater

Outfall

Jetty

Drain

Dr
ai

n

Outfall

Upper Horse

Mean High Water

Track

Track

Shellhaven Point

Lower Horse

Tr
ac

k

Works

DA
HTRO

IW
N

Drain

Drain

Drain

DrainDrain

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

RKC O

Drain

D
rain

Drain

Drain

D
rain

Drain

D
ra

in

Drain

Mud

D
ra

in

Drain

Drain

Dr
ai

n

Drain

Dr
ai

n

Jetty

Holehaven Creek

Drai
n

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

Drain

D
rain

Drain

D
rain

Drain

Drain

Mean High Water

Jetty

Drain LC

2m

DrainD
rain

Drains

LC

Jetty

D
rain

D
ra

in

Shell Haven

Mud

Jetty

Shell Haven

Mean High Water

Path

Fl Sk

Track

Path
Track

Shelly
Bay

Track

Depot
Storage

Oil

Sl

Fleet

Manorway

Dra
in

Sl

Sls
Mud

3m

2m

3m

2m

2m

Drains

Jetty

C
re

ek

Drains

Drain

A1014

D
rain

Drain

Tr
ac

k

Path

Path

Tr
ac

k

A3

Client

LEGEND

\\MARTIN\Boyer Planning\Project Folders\13.646 Thames Enterprise Park\4 Boyer Planning\4.05 CAD Drawings\Working\13-646 - (091 RevA) Figure 7-2 Consequence Zones Plan.dwg  - A3 Landscape

Site Boundary

-
-
-

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of Ordnance Survey on
behalf of The Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright AR 100007250

Boyer Planning Ltd, Crowthorne House, Nine Mile Ride, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 3GZ

Date Drawn Checked Authorised

Number ScaleRev.

Drawing Title

Project Title

Thames Enterprise Park,
Thurrock

FIGURE 7:2
Consequence Zones Plan

18 May 2015 BDC SW SW

14.237/091 A NTS

Rev Date Description
- 14/05/15 First Issue

Drawn
BDC

Development Proximity Zone

Inner Zone

Middle Zone

Outer Zone

A 18/05/15 Site boundary amended BDC

P
age 85



 

P
age 86



 

 

APPENDIX 1 – LIST OF CONSULTEES AND 

RESPONDENTS 

Consultee Date Response Received 

English Heritage  27.11.14 

Natural England  19.12.14 

Environment Agency  09.12.14 

Highways Agency  08.12.14 

Anglian Water 08.12.14 

Essex And Suffolk Water  18.11.14 

British Pipeline Agency No response to date 

Network Rail 08.12.14 

Essex Co. Fire/Rescue Consultation No response to date 

Health And Safety Executive  07.01.15 

Port Of London Authority  22.12.14 

Royal Society for Protection of Birds No response to date 

Essex County Council Archaeology  01.12.14 

Castle Point Council No response to date 

Basildon Borough Council  08.12.14 

Medway Council No response to date 

Essex County Council  08.12.14 

Greater London Authority No response to date 

TC Heritage advice  02.12.14 

TC Environmental Health  26.11.14 

TC Emergency Planning  05.12.14 

TC Highways  24.11.14 

TC Public Footpaths No response to date 

TC Landscape and Ecology  08.12.14 

TC Flood Risk Manager  03.12.14 + 9.12.14 

 
N.B. TC= Thurrock Council 

  

Page 87



 

Page 88



Page 89



Boyer Planning  

15 De Grey Square • De Grey Road • Colchester • Essex • CO4 5YQ

T 01206 769018  E colchester@boyerplanning.co.ukPage 90



29 July 2015 ITEM: 7

Planning, Transport and Regeneration Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Grays South and Rail Station Regeneration

Wards and communities affected: 
Grays Riverside

Key Decision: 
Key

Report of: Cllr. Richard Speight Portfolio Holder for Regeneration

Accountable Head of Service: Matthew Essex Head of Regeneration

Accountable Director: Steve Cox Assistant Chief Executive

Executive Summary

In July 2013 Cabinet approved the introduction of a broad (8m wide) ‘boulevard 
underpass’ beneath the railway line to replace the existing level crossing.  The 
proposals included access via high quality, landscaped public squares at either end 
of the underpass and the potential for a redeveloped rail station to provide a 
significantly enhanced arrival point into the town centre. New development sites 
created around the public squares would provide high quality frontages designed to 
include street cafes and new retail floor space with flats or offices on upper floors 
whilst allowing sufficient space for street entertainment, markets and events.

In December 2014 Cabinet noted progress on developing the project and approved a 
Memorandum of Understanding with Network Rail that set out the framework for a 
partnership to deliver the project. Broadly, through these arrangements, it was 
envisaged that Network Rail would lead the design and construction of the 
underpass and the Council would lead the necessary land assembly.

Since then both organisations have commissioned consultants to develop the design 
proposals and consider the land and property implications respectively. This work 
has now reached the point where a preferred underpass option has been identified 
and costed and a Land Acquisition and Partnership Strategy developed. This report 
updates on progress under the various work streams since December and seeks the 
committees views on the approach to developing the project.

The Land Acquisition and Partnership Strategy sets out an approach based on 
discussion and negotiation with affected land owners using the Council’s powers of 
Compulsory Purchase as a last resort. The report seeks the committees view on the 
approach recommended in the strategy.

The cost estimates provided by Network Rail show a design and construction cost 
that is similar to the budget price identified in the studies by Ramboll of £8,851,565. 

Page 91

Agenda Item 7



However additional costs appear excessive, taking the cost estimate to £15,163,396 
for the underpass with additional sums for relocating Crown Road and for inclusion 
of lifts. Officers are working with network Rail to understand these estimates and to 
consider how they can be reduced.

Further reports will be submitted to Cabinet for consideration of the next stages of 
the project including detailed design, funding and, if necessary, the drafting of a 
Compulsory Purchase Notice.

1. Recommendation(s) 

1.1 Planning Transport and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
are asked to provide their views on the design options and cost 
estimates and the approach to land assembly set out in this report.

2. Introduction and Background

2.1 As one of six Growth Hubs in the Borough, Grays has been a focus for 
investment in recent years as the Council seeks to support the delivery of 
the vision for the town agreed through a major public consultation exercise in 
2013: 

“Building on its strengths as a Chartered Market Town, Grays will be 
an exciting, high quality destination for people to live, work, learn, 
shop and socialise. Reconnected to the River Thames, Grays will 
support growing resident, student and business communities 
throughout the day and entertain a diverse and vibrant population 
through the evening. 

Cafés, bars, restaurants, shops and markets will combine with 
culture, entertainment and events in unique venues to provide a safe 
and attractive place for communities to meet and businesses to 
thrive.”

2.2 Under the Grays Regeneration Programme the Council has, among other 
things, supported the relocation of South Essex College’s Thurrock Campus 
onto the High Street and is in the process of completing the refurbishment of 
the former Magistrates Court for business use, developing 53 new homes as 
the first phase of the refurbishment of the Seabrooke Rise estate together with 
a new purpose built community house, and addressing the longstanding 
congestion caused by the existing one way system. The benefits of these 
schemes are now starting to be seen with activity in the High Street increasing 
together with a commensurate increase in interest among potential business 
occupiers. There remains work to be done however to address the 
longstanding issues of accessibility, image and north-south connectivity with 
the barrier formed by the level crossing and the disruption caused when it is 

Page 92



closed representing serious impediments to the aspiration articulated within 
the vision to reconnect the town to the River Thames. 

2.3 These issues have been highlighted in a series of reports to Cabinet and 
other Council committees seeking to progress proposals to replace the 
existing level crossing with an underpass as part of a wider public realm 
scheme which would, in time, include a new station building and transport 
interchange. High quality, mixed-use developments set around hard and soft 
landscaped public squares supporting street entertainment, markets and 
events will provide attractive frontages for street cafes and new convenience 
retail whilst apartments and/or offices on upper floors will continue the 
increase in footfall on the High Street. Collectively, these developments will 
serve to form a new gateway into Grays for in excess of three million 
commuters who use the station every year.

2.4 The first of these reports (July 2013) set the context for this work and 
considered the relative benefits of a range of options for providing unimpeded, 
separated access across the railway line in place of the existing level 
crossing. These options included various bridge and underpass designs which 
were rejected because they would not provide the required level of 
accessibility within an acceptable public realm. This was particularly so in 
respect of the bridge options where the structure required to clear the 
overhead cables would have reached nearly 8m in height and would have had 
a significant negative impact on movement, sight lines and future 
development potential. 

2.5 Cabinet selected the introduction of a broad (8m wide) ‘boulevard underpass’ 
beneath the railway line to replace the existing level crossing as the preferred 
option. Cabinet also approved actions under a series of work streams 
including design, land acquisitions and the establishment of a partnership with 
Network Rail to secure the ultimate delivery of the scheme. There have been 
regular reports to Cabinet providing updates on progress and seeking further 
approvals as required. Through the last update report, in December 2014, 
Cabinet agreed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) that set out the 
framework for a partnership between the Council and Network Rail to secure 
the delivery of the underpass. Broadly, through these arrangements, it was 
envisaged that Network Rail would lead the design and construction of the 
underpass and the Council would lead the necessary land assembly.

2.6 Since striking this agreement both organisations have commissioned 
consultants to develop the design proposals and consider the land and 
property implications respectively. This work has now reached the point where 
a preferred underpass option can be identified and a Land Acquisition and 
Partnership Strategy has been developed. The designs and associated 
costings are currently being reviewed and will be the subject of a report to 
Cabinet in the Autumn. This report updates on progress under the various 
work streams and seeks the Committees views on the approach taken to 
developing the project.

Page 93



2.7 Since the last update report to Cabinet Network Rail and the Council have 
delivered a coordinated campaign to address a sharp increase in the level of 
misuse of the rail crossing which had served to heighten already existing 
safety concerns. At its height, the numbers of recorded incidents of people 
crossing whilst the barriers were descending, jumping over/through the 
barriers once they were down and accessing/existing the station via the level 
crossing had reached in excess of 40 a month. This led Network Rail to 
conclude that the risk of an accident had become too great leaving them with 
no alternative but to close the crossing. 

2.8 Network Rail has reported that the campaign, which included staffing of the 
crossing, increased signage, letter drops and various joint press releases, has 
had a considerable positive impact with recorded levels of misuse well down. 
However, the long term safety concerns still exist and whilst Network Rail is 
no longer considering an immediate closure it is critical that the work on a 
permanent solution continues to progress and that the Council can fulfil its 
obligations under the MOU. If it becomes clear that the project is likely to be 
delayed beyond the currently anticipated programme, cannot be delivered or 
there is another increase in misuse of the crossing it is likely that Network Rail 
will be forced to reconsider its position because of the underlying risks.

3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

3.1 Since Cabinet last considered this project at their meeting in December 2014 
there has been good progress on all of the key work streams. The Council has 
worked closely with Network Rail and their appointed designers (Atkins) to 
develop fully costed design options and the Council’s advisor (Montagu 
Evans) has completed the first stage of their commission to produce a Land 
Acquisition and Partnership Strategy on behalf of the Council. These are both 
considered in more detail in the rest of this report.

3.2 Development of the Underpass Design

3.2.1 As is noted above, with the Council having ruled out bridge options through its 
earlier work, the focus of the design work being led by Network Rail has been 
on considering the potential options for an underpass crossing of the rail line. 
Through a jointly developed brief, Atkins were appointed to undertake this 
work and, having undertaken a range of surveys (topographic, utilities etc), 
and provided their final options report. Each of the options has built on the 
design approach previously agreed by Cabinet in July 2013 and sought to 
maximise the width of the underpass to maintain the boulevard approach, 
meet the requirements of the Disability Discrimination Act and protect forward 
visibility as far as possible.

3.2.2 Plans of the four options are attached at Appendix One. Option 4 includes 
crescent shaped integrated steps and ramps and is considered by officers to 
be the preferred option of the 4 presented. This option provides the highest 
levels of accessibility, engineered structures are less obvious than in the other 
options and it therefore provides opportunities to provide the highest quality of 

Page 94



public realm. Members are requested to consider and comment on the design 
approach in this option.

3.2.3 Ramboll had estimated a budget price with exclusions of c£8million. The 
design and build cost estimate for option 4 is similar at £8,541,565. However 
officers have been surprised at the scale of additional costs associated with 
network rails project management and other costs, which result in a total 
estimate of £15,163,369 with additional sums for relocating Crown Road and 
including lifts. These costs are currently being reviewed with Network Rail.

3.2.4 Grays Rail Station has been identified by the Department of Transport (DoT) 
as one of 42 stations around the country that can benefit from their Access for 
All Programme (AfA) which aims to improve accessibility within rail stations. 
To secure any funding under the programme Network Rail is required to 
submit four options, including a preferred option to the DoT. The approach to 
designing the AfA works and the underpass has been coordinated. Atkins and 
Network rail have concluded that the preferred AfA option would be to 
incorporate the access improvements within the underpass structure. 

3.2.5 When the initial design and costing has been completed the programme will 
be developed in more detail with Network Rail to bring together the main 
elements of the programme (Design, Land Acquisition, planning and other 
consents, construction, and development plots) that will need to be 
coordinated and to reflect the decision making processes of the Council and 
of Network Rail. A full programme will be reported to a future Cabinet meeting.

3.3 Land Assembly

3.3.1 The plan included at Appendix Two shows the approximate extent of land 
required for the preferred underpass layout and the separate land holdings 
within that area.  Much of this is already owned by either Network Rail or 
Thurrock Council.

3.3.2 The Council has held a continuous, open dialogue with the owners and 
occupiers of property affected by the scheme. This has included written 
updates together with offers to meet directly with Council Officers or the 
Council’s advisors which a number of businesses have taken up. More 
general updates have been provided to businesses elsewhere in Grays 
through the Grays Town Partnership. It is important that this dialogue 
continues throughout the development and delivery of the scheme. 

3.3.3 The anticipated cost of acquiring those interests which are not currently within 
Network Rail or Thurrock Council ownership, including those leasehold 
interests within Network Rail owned property, is estimated at £5,845,600. This 
is considered to be a worst case scenario in that it is assumed that all 
interests will have to be acquired (i.e. there is no partnership arrangement) 
under a Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) and includes provision for all fees 
and compensation that would be payable. 

Page 95



3.3.4 To ultimately deliver the underpass the Council will need to acquire or gain 
control of the various land interests. Montagu Evans was commissioned in 
December 2014 to produce a Land Acquisition and Partnership Strategy to 
support the project. The Strategy is based on relevant guidance issued by 
Government. Building upon the clear views expressed by Cabinet that any 
acquisitions should be through negotiation where possible, the main elements 
of the strategy are that:

a. There should be clear and open communication with those with an interest 
in the site; 

b. The Council should look to negotiate agreement wherever possible with 
priority given to freeholds and long leases over short leases and 
occupational interests. The approach should be subject to review on an 
individual basis and tailored to each case;

c. Use of Compulsory Purchase Powers should be a last resort if negotiation 
cannot bring about acquisition of a site;

d. The Council should recognise that it may be appropriate to seek to agree 
conditional contracts for future purchase. There may also be benefit in 
early acquisition if interests are available and/or where the Council may be 
able to generate an income prior to implementation of the project;

e. Opportunities for relocation of existing businesses should be sought, either 
outside the project area or in the new units to be created and sufficient 
time needs to be given for business to find alternative premises and to 
relocate; and

f. Any residential premises within the scheme area should be handled 
sensitively.

3.3.5 Whilst the strategy clearly anticipates the majority of acquisition activity being 
conducted through negotiation and individual agreements, it is clear from the 
programme that achieving certainty over land assembly is critical to the 
ultimate delivery of the project. Alongside this, the Council will need to be 
content that it has not omitted any unregistered or undeclared interests and/or 
rights which might otherwise preclude delivery of the scheme. It is therefore 
proposed that, alongside any negotiations with affected landowners and 
occupiers, the Council also develops the case for a CPO which can be used 
to acquire interests where a negotiated solution cannot be found and that will 
address any unknown interests and rights which the Council would otherwise 
not be aware of. This will be the subject of a detailed report to Cabinet in the 
Autumn.

3.3.6 Whilst the use of a CPO provides an element of certainty in the event that 
agreement cannot be reached through negotiation it is an extensive process; 
both in terms of timescale and work required. Should the Council have to rely 
upon its CPO powers it will need to produce detailed statements in support of 
its proposals, participate in a full public inquiry and then follow the relevant 
processes to ultimately secure the necessary interests. Typically the full CPO 
process can take up to two years to complete. Given the requirement for the 
project to be completed by the end of March 2019 it is considered necessary 

Page 96



to commence both the negotiations and the preparatory work for the CPO as 
soon as possible.

3.3.7 Recognising the specialist nature of the work, the Council will require support 
from a legal team with expertise in compulsory purchase to support the 
implementation of the Land Acquisition and Partnership Strategy. Cabinet will 
be asked to approve a procurement exercise for these services.

3.3.8  Outside of the third party interests to be acquired, the existing Council owned 
land required for the scheme will need to be appropriated from its current 
purpose to planning purposes for the delivery of the scheme. The scheme will 
also require temporary and permanent closures and diversions of the public 
highway and is likely to require the creation of new highway for the necessary 
relocation of Station Approach. The necessary approvals to effect the various 
appropriations etc will be sought through further Cabinet reports as the project 
progresses.

3.3.9 The committee is asked to consider and comment on the approach to land 
assembly.

3.4 Financial Implications 

3.4.1 The preliminary estimate of costs of delivering the underpass scheme include 
land acquisition, design and construction.

3.4.2 Costs of acquiring all land interests would depend on the nature of the public 
realm, the scale of the associated development plots, and the extent to which 
Crown Road is moved southwards to provide a shorter underpass. Costs of 
land acquisition using the Council’s powers of compulsory purchase would 
range between £3,348,450 if Crown Road is moved southwards as illustrated 
on the plans in the appendices and £5,845,600 if Crown Road is not moved. 
These figures would be lower if properties can be purchased by negotiation.

3.4.3 In July 2013 it was reported to Cabinet that the budget price for constructing 
the underpass would be in the region of £8 million with additional sums for a 
range of items including Network Rail costs, costs of temporary rail closures, 
costs for relocating utilities etc. The cost estimate for the design and 
construction of option 4 is £8,541,565. However Network Rail project 
management and other costs result in a total estimate of £15,163,396 for 
designing and constructing the underpass with additional sums for relocating 
Crown road and for AfA works. The unexpected scale of these figures is a 
major ‘stumbling block’ for the delivery of the project. More work is being done 
to understand the costs and to consider ways in which they can be reduced to 
a more manageable level before reporting the design options and cost 
estimates to Cabinet.

3.4.4 Under the terms of the MOU with Network Rail, the costs of land assembly fall 
to the Council and are covered within the Council’s Capital Programme. It is 
assumed that they will be met through prudential borrowing financed in part 

Page 97



through returns generated through the eventual disposal or development of 
the plots created around the public squares.

3.4.5 The costs associated with the implementation of the underpass itself are to be 
met by the Council and Network Rail working in partnership. At the moment, 
the costs are anticipated to be met through a combination of Council funding, 
Council held s106 monies, the AfA monies and Network Rail’s own funds. 
Consideration is also being given for the potential to secure additional 
resources through subsequent rounds of the Local Growth Fund where the 
underpass is likely to be Thurrock’s highest priority scheme. 

3.4.6 The cost of the professional fees will fall to the Council to meet and these can be contained 
within existing service budgets.

4. Reasons for Recommendation

4.1 The development of an underpass and enhancements to the public realm 
around Grays rail station are key elements of the Council’s priorities for the 
regeneration of Grays town centre. In March 2014 Cabinet agreed a delivery 
strategy and in December 2014 agreed a Memorandum of Understanding that 
sets out the framework for a partnership with Network Rail to deliver the 
project. The implementation of the project will require the council to acquire 
land, it is hoped that this would be by agreement but may require the use of 
the Council’s Compulsory Purchase powers. Approval in principle for the use 
of Compulsory Purchase powers is sought to enable the scheme to progress.

5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

5.1 Various stages in the development and delivery of this project have been 
considered and approved by Cabinet in July 2013, March 2014 and 
December 2014 and by Planning, Transport and Regeneration Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in March and December 2014. It has been subject to 
consultation with key stakeholders at the Grays Town Partnership and all 
known affected land owners have been sent details of the project. Further 
consultation would take place as the designs are developed and there will be 
a formal planning application stage which will require further consultation.

6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

6.1 The Council’s Community Regeneration Strategy and LDF core strategy 
identify Grays as one of the Growth Hubs where regeneration activity will be 
focussed. A vision for the town centre including this project was approved by 
Cabinet in July 2013 following extensive public consultation.

7. Implications

7.1 Financial

Page 98



Implications verified by: Mark Terry
Senior Financial Accountant

The report seeks the committees views on the design of the preferred option 
and the delivery strategy. Network Rails costs for delivering the project are in 
excess of the costs anticipated in the Councils capital programme. More work 
needs to be done to properly understand these costs and to consider ways in 
which they can be reduced as a cost to the project before reporting the design 
options and cost estimates to cabinet. .

7.2 Legal

Implications verified by: Alison Stuart
Principal Solicitor

The report refers to relevant legislative provisions and the implications of 
progressing land acquisition and consents for the scheme. Cabinet approval 
will be required for use of the Councils Compulsory Purchase Powers. Further 
reports will need to be submitted to future meetings of Cabinet including a‘first 
resolution’ seeking approval for the use of those powers in principle and for a 
‘second resolution report’ seeking approval for the drafting of a CPO and 
submission to the Secretary of State.

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 includes provisions whereby an 
affected party whose land interest is being acquired can serve a blight notice 
on the Council. The notice can be served at any time after the authority has 
submitted a notice to the Secretary of State for confirmation. Qualifying 
interests are defined in the regulations.

Qualifying objectors to a CPO have the right to be heard at a public inquiry. 
The Council will be required to submit a Statement of reasons to the inquiry 
detailing the case for Compulsory Purchase as set out in the report.

7.3 Diversity and Equality

Implications verified by: Natalie Warren
Community Development and Equalities 
Officer

The project has been the subject of stakeholder engagement summarised in 
the previous reports to Cabinet. There will be three further increasingly 
detailed stages of design including submission of applications for planning 
permission and other consents. Further engagement activity will take place as 
the designs are developed. The need to ensure the design meets equalities 
act accessibility expectations have contributed to the scale of the access 
ramps and the land area required.

Page 99



7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

The Council would need to be satisfied that its use of its Compulsory 
Purchase powers is justified under Articles 1 and 8 of the First Protocol to the 
European Convention on Human Rights. The project is in the public interests 
as set out in this report and reports to Cabinet in July 2013, March 2014 and 
December 2014. Fair compensation will be paid to affected land interests. It is 
therefore considered at this stage that a fair balance has been made between 
the public interest and the interests of landowners. This will be addressed 
further in a future report to Cabinet.

8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

 Thurrock Economic Development Strategy
 Thurrock Local Development Framework Core Strategy 2012
 Thurrock Community Regeneration Strategy 2012
 Cabinet Report July 2013
 Cabinet Report March 2014
 Cabinet Report December 2014
 Government Circular 06/2004 Compulsory Purchase and the Crichel 

Downs Rules

9. Appendices to the report

 Appendix 1- Design Options
 Appendix 2 - Plan of scheme area

Report Author:

Brian Priestley
Regeneration Programme Manager
Regeneration

Page 100



Legend/Notes

D
ra

w
in

g
 N

u
m

b
e
r

Sheet Size A1 594 x 841

Scale(s)

Drawing Number Revision

of

Project

Status

Rev Date Description of Revisions Drawn

Designed

Drawing Title

Contractor(s)

Date

Drawn

Checked

Approved

Chkd Appr

Date

Date

Date

ELR & Mileage

Alternative Reference

Signed

Signed

Signed

Signed

Sheet

D
a
te
:

1
2
:3

6
:3

3
H

A
R

R
8
7
0
5

0
7
/0

5
/2

0
1
5

U
s
e
rn

a
m

e
:

F
il
e
n
a

m
e
:
\\

w
s
a
tk
in
s
.c

o
m
\H

o
m

e
\G

B
L

O
W
\H

A
R

R
8
7
0
5
\D

e
s
k
to

p
\G
ra

y
s
 P

e
d
e
s
tr
ia

n
 U

n
d
e
rp

a
s
s
\U

n
d
e
rp

a
s
s
 D
ra

w
in

g
s
\5

1
3
6
0
7
8
-A

T
K
-D

R
G
-A

C
H
-0

0
0
2
.d

g
n

  

 

 

Fax:

Tel:

+44 (0)20 8663 5111

+44 (0)20 8663 5000

CR0 0XT

Surrey

Croydon

12-16 Addiscombe Road

No 1 Croydon 

5
 2

0
0

1
 8

0
0

9
 4

0
6

1
2
 0

7
7

10000

3
9
0
0

1
8
0
0

1
8
0
0

3142 3288

3000

2010

1
8
0
0

1800

3666
3653

3
8
9
7

1
8
0
0

1800

1
8
0
0

10710

1800

5 700

GRAYS PEDESTRIAN UNDERPASS

5136078-ATK-DRG-ACH-0002

5
1
3
6
0
7
8
-A

T
K
-D

R
G
-A

C
H
-0

0
0
2

SH

SPM

01

D
R

A
F
T

D
R

A
F
T

TO BE DESIGN BY OTHERS.

INDICATIVE ROAD ALIGNMENT. 

REALIGNMENT

PROPOSED CROWN ROAD 

PUBLIC SPACE 

PROPOSED NEW 

EXISTING PLATFORM

EXISTING TRACK LINE

UNDERPASS

PROPOSED PEDESTRIAN 

PROPOSED STEPPED ACCESS

BUILDING FRONTAGE

PROPOSED REALIGNED 

BUILDING FRONTAGE

PROPOSED REALIGNED 

PUBLIC SPACE 

PROPOSED NEW 

AREA TO BE DEMOLISHED

OTHERWISE STATED

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE IN MILLIMETERS UNLESS 

CONCOURSE BUILDING

GRAYS STATION MAIN 

CONCOURSE BUILDING

GRAYS STATION SECONDARY 

D
R

A
F
T

OPTION SELECTIOND
R

A
F
T

INITIAL COST

UNDERPASS AND ACCESS OPTION 1

MODIFICATION TO BE CONFIRMED.

REALIGNMENT. EXTENT OF RAMP 

ALLOW FOR CROWN ROAD 

EXISTING RAMP TO BE MODIFIED TO 

MODIFICATION TO BE CONFIRMED.

REALIGNMENT. EXTENT OF RAMP 

ALLOW FOR CROWN ROAD 

EXISTING RAMP TO BE MODIFIED TO 

1

0002

UNDERPASS OPTION 1 PLAN

1:250

+2250

+1350

+450

+2700

+1800

0.00

+900

0.00

+1020

+2040

+3060

+4080

+5100

+1530

+2550

+3570

+4590

+510

MAINTENED

BUILDING FRONTAGES TO BE 

EXISTING ACCESS TO 

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Legend/Notes

D
ra

w
in

g
 N

u
m

b
e
r

Sheet Size A1 594 x 841

Scale(s)

Drawing Number Revision

of

Project

Status

Rev Date Description of Revisions Drawn

Designed

Drawing Title

Contractor(s)

Date

Drawn

Checked

Approved

Chkd Appr

Date

Date

Date

ELR & Mileage

Alternative Reference

Signed

Signed

Signed

Signed

Sheet

D
a
te
:

1
2
:1

7
:1

6
H

A
R

R
8
7
0
5

0
7
/0

5
/2

0
1
5

U
s
e
rn

a
m

e
:

F
il
e
n
a

m
e
:
\\

w
s
a
tk
in
s
.c

o
m
\H

o
m

e
\G

B
L

O
W
\H

A
R

R
8
7
0
5
\D

e
s
k
to

p
\G
ra

y
s
 P

e
d
e
s
tr
ia

n
 U

n
d
e
rp

a
s
s
\U

n
d
e
rp

a
s
s
 D
ra

w
in

g
s
\5

1
3
6
0
7
8
-A

T
K
-D

R
G
-A

C
H
-0

0
0
3
.d

g
n

  

 

 

Fax:

Tel:

+44 (0)20 8663 5111

+44 (0)20 8663 5000

CR0 0XT

Surrey

Croydon

12-16 Addiscombe Road

No 1 Croydon 

3000

179510000

1
8
0
0

1
 8

0
0

10000 1800

1
8
0
0

1
5
0
0

1
8
0
0

1800

10000

8000

10 710
1800

1
8
0
0

10710
1800

6571

3
 4

4
8

1
8
0
01
 8

0
0

10710

1800

5 700

GRAYS PEDESTRIAN UNDERPASS

5136078-ATK-DRG-ACH-0003

5
1
3
6
0
7
8
-A

T
K
-D

R
G
-A

C
H
-0

0
0
3

SH

SPM

01

D
R

A
F
T

D
R

A
F
T

TO BE DESIGN BY OTHERS.

INDICATIVE ROAD ALIGNMENT. 

REALIGNMENT

PROPOSED CROWN ROAD 

PUBLIC SPACE 

PROPOSED NEW 

EXISTING PLATFORM

EXISTING TRACK LINE

UNDERPASS

PROPOSED PEDESTRIAN 

PROPOSED STEPPED ACCESS

BUILDING FRONTAGE

PROPOSED REALIGNED 

BUILDING FRONTAGE

PROPOSED REALIGNED 

PUBLIC SPACE 

PROPOSED NEW 

AREA TO BE DEMOLISHED

OTHERWISE STATED

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE IN MILLIMETERS UNLESS 

CONCOURSE BUILDING

GRAYS STATION MAIN 

CONCOURSE BUILDING

GRAYS STATION SECONDARY 

D
R

A
F
T

D
R

A
F
T

1

0003

UNDERPASS OPTION 2 PLAN

1:250

OPTION SELECTION

INITIAL COST

UNDERPASS AND ACCESS OPTION 2

+2700

+2250

+1350

+450

0.00

+510

0.00

+1530

+2550

+3570

+4590

+5100

+5100

0.00

+5100

+4080

+2040

+1020

+3060

+900

0.00

+2700

+1800

MAINTENED

BUILDING FRONTAGES TO BE 

EXISTING ACCESS TO 

MODIFICATION TO BE CONFIRMED.

REALIGNMENT. EXTENT OF RAMP 

ALLOW FOR CROWN ROAD 

EXISTING RAMP TO BE MODIFIED TO 

MODIFICATION TO BE CONFIRMED.

REALIGNMENT. EXTENT OF RAMP 

ALLOW FOR CROWN ROAD 

EXISTING RAMP TO BE MODIFIED TO 

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Legend/Notes

D
ra

w
in

g
 N

u
m

b
e
r

Sheet Size A1 594 x 841

Scale(s)

Drawing Number Revision

of

Project

Status

Rev Date Description of Revisions Drawn

Designed

Drawing Title

Contractor(s)

Date

Drawn

Checked

Approved

Chkd Appr

Date

Date

Date

ELR & Mileage

Alternative Reference

Signed

Signed

Signed

Signed

Sheet

D
a
te
:

1
2
:1

3
:5

8
H

A
R

R
8
7
0
5

0
7
/0

5
/2

0
1
5

U
s
e
rn

a
m

e
:

F
il
e
n
a

m
e
:
\\

w
s
a
tk
in
s
.c

o
m
\H

o
m

e
\G

B
L

O
W
\H

A
R

R
8
7
0
5
\D

e
s
k
to

p
\G
ra

y
s
 P

e
d
e
s
tr
ia

n
 U

n
d
e
rp

a
s
s
\U

n
d
e
rp

a
s
s
 D
ra

w
in

g
s
\5

1
3
6
0
7
8
-A

T
K
-D

R
G
-A

C
H
-0

0
0
4
.d

g
n

  

 

 

Fax:

Tel:

+44 (0)20 8663 5111

+44 (0)20 8663 5000

CR0 0XT

Surrey

Croydon

12-16 Addiscombe Road

No 1 Croydon 

2
5
0
0

2
 0

8
5

1
 8

0
0

2
 1

0
0

1 800

1
 8

0
0

3
 9

0
0

6 300

9 450

2
 1

0
0

3
 1

5
0

9 450

1
8
0
0

5 100

GRAYS PEDESTRIAN UNDERPASS

5136078-ATK-DRG-ACH-0004

5
1
3
6
0
7
8
-A

T
K
-D

R
G
-A

C
H
-0

0
0
4

SH

SPM

01

D
R

A
F
T

D
R

A
F
T

TO BE DESIGN BY OTHERS.

INDICATIVE ROAD ALIGNMENT. 

REALIGNMENT

PROPOSED CROWN ROAD 

PUBLIC SPACE 

PROPOSED NEW 

EXISTING PLATFORM

EXISTING TRACK LINE

UNDERPASS

PROPOSED PEDESTRIAN 

PROPOSED STEPPED ACCESS

BUILDING FRONTAGE

PROPOSED REALIGNED 

BUILDING FRONTAGE

PROPOSED REALIGNED 

PUBLIC SPACE 

PROPOSED NEW 

AREA TO BE DEMOLISHED

OTHERWISE STATED

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE IN MILLIMETERS UNLESS 

CONCOURSE BUILDING

GRAYS STATION MAIN 

CONCOURSE BUILDING

GRAYS STATION SECONDARY 

D
R

A
F
T

D
R

A
F
T

OPTION SELECTION

1

0004

UNDERPASS OPTION 3 PLAN

1:250

MAINTENED

BUILDING FRONTAGES TO BE 

EXISTING ACCESS TO 

MODIFICATION TO BE CONFIRMED.

REALIGNMENT. EXTENT OF RAMP 

ALLOW FOR CROWN ROAD 

EXISTING RAMP TO BE MODIFIED TO 

MODIFICATION TO BE CONFIRMED.

REALIGNMENT. EXTENT OF RAMP 

ALLOW FOR CROWN ROAD 

EXISTING RAMP TO BE MODIFIED TO 

INITIAL COST

UNDERPASS AND ACCESS OPTION 3

0.00

+600

+600

+1200

+1650+2100

+2700

+3300

+3750+4200

+5100

+5100

0.00

+450

+900
+1350

+1800

+2250

+2700

P
age 105



T
his page is intentionally left blank



D
a
te
:

$
T
IM

E
$

$
U

S
E

R
$

$
D

A
T

E
$

U
s
e
rn

a
m

e
:

F
il
e
n
a

m
e
:

$
F
IL

E
$

  

 

 

Fax:

Tel:

+44 (0)20 8663 5111

+44 (0)20 8663 5000

CR0 0XT

Surrey

Croydon

12-16 Addiscombe Road

No 1 Croydon 

Legend/Notes

D
ra

w
in

g
 N

u
m

b
e
r

Sheet Size A1 594 x 841

Scale(s)

Drawing Number Revision

of

Project

Status

Rev Date Description of Revisions Drawn

Designed

Drawing Title

Contractor(s)

Date

Drawn

Checked

Approved

Chkd Appr

Date

Date

Date

ELR & Mileage

Alternative Reference

Signed

Signed

Signed

Signed

Sheet

GRAYS PEDESTRIAN UNDERPASS

2
 2

2
0

2
 5
0
0

2 500

5
 5
1
4

9
 9

3
7

5 623

3000

5136078-ATK-DRG-ACH-0001

5
1
3
6
0
7
8
-A

T
K
-D

R
G
-A

C
H
-0

0
0
1

SH

SPM

01

D
R

A
F
T

D
R

A
F
T

TO BE DESIGN BY OTHERS.

INDICATIVE ROAD ALIGNMENT. 

REALIGNMENT

PROPOSED CROWN ROAD 

PUBLIC SPACE 

PROPOSED NEW 

EXISTING PLATFORM

EXISTING TRACK LINE

UNDERPASS

PROPOSED PEDESTRIAN 

PROPOSED STEPPED ACCESS

BUILDING FRONTAGE

PROPOSED REALIGNED 

BUILDING FRONTAGE

PROPOSED REALIGNED 

PUBLIC SPACE 

PROPOSED NEW 

AREA TO BE DEMOLISHED

OTHERWISE STATED

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE IN MILLIMETERS UNLESS 

CONCOURSE BUILDING

GRAYS STATION MAIN 

CONCOURSE BUILDING

GRAYS STATION SECONDARY 

2
 5

0
0

2
 5

0
0

2
 2

2
0

5 815

2 500

2
 5

0
0

2
 5

0
0

D
R

A
F
T

INITIAL COST

UNDERPASS AND ACCESS OPTION 4

D
R

A
F
T

OPTION SELECTION

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Sheet Size A1 594 x 841

D
ra

w
in

g
 N

u
m

b
e
r

 

Scale(s)

Drawing Number Revision

of

Sheet

Signed

Signed

Signed

Project

Status

Rev Date Description of Revisions Drawn

Designed

Drawing Title

Contractor(s)

DateSigned

Drawn

Checked

Approved

Chkd Appr

Date

Date

Date

ELR & Mileage

Alternative Reference

Suitability

 

 

 

 

Legend/Notes

D
a
te
:

1
0
:2

0
:0

9
b
o
u
t5

4
3
5

2
6
/0

6
/2

0
1
5

U
s
e
rn

a
m

e
:

F
il
e
n
a

m
e
:

P
:\

G
B

C
R

A
\R

a
il
 -
 I
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
\P
ro
je
c
t\
5
1
3
6
0
7
8
 -
 G
ra

y
s
 P

e
d
e
s
tr
ia

n
 U

n
d
e
rp

a
s
s
\0

4
0
 D

o
c
u

m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
\4

7
 D
ra

w
in

g
s
\C

A
D
\D
ra

w
in

g
s
\5

1
3
6
0
7
8
-A

T
K
-D

R
G
-C
IV
-0

0
1
0
0
1
.d

g
n

  

 

 

Fax:

Tel:

+44 (0)20 8663 5111

+44 (0)20 8663 5000

CR0 0XT

Surrey

Croydon

12-16 Addiscombe Road

No 1 Croydon 

  

 

 

1 

22.05.15

1

 

 

 

 

22.05.15

 

 

 

PRELIMINARY

J. BOUTELJE

P. SMOUT

 

AS SHOWN

Posts

S
u
b

w
a
y

6
1

LC

El Sub Sta

3

S
o
u
th
 M

a
ll

Pullman Tavern

1

F
B

66a

(PH)

36

40

MP 20

TCB

6
0

STATION

6
5

LB

SL

60a

6
6

5
5
 5

7
16

5
9

4
5
 to
 5

1

60b

6
2

5
3

Grays Station

Bank

APPROACH

66b

1

9

8

10

11
12

13
14

15

1617

18 19

20

22
23

24

25

39

2628

29

32

37

38

40

41

42

31

21

36

30 27

19a

N

(SEE NOTE 3)
UNDERPASS ACCESS OPTION 4 

(REFER TO NOTE 3)
OF CROWN ROAD. 
PROPOSED REALIGNMENT 

EXISTING CROWN ROAD

(ELR / TLL)
RAILWAY LINES 

Metal Railing and PostH0.9m

Metal Railing and PostH0.9m

Metal Railing and PostH0.9m

P01

D
a
te
:

1
0
:2

0
:1

0
b
o
u
t5

4
3
5

2
6
/0

6
/2

0
1
5

U
s
e
rn

a
m

e
:

F
il
e
n
a

m
e
:

P
:\

G
B

C
R

A
\R

a
il
 -
 I
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
\P
ro
je
c
t\
5
1
3
6
0
7
8
 -
 G
ra

y
s
 P

e
d
e
s
tr
ia

n
 U

n
d
e
rp

a
s
s
\0

4
0
 D

o
c
u

m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
\4

7
 D
ra

w
in

g
s
\C

A
D
\D
ra

w
in

g
s
\5

1
3
6
0
7
8
-A

T
K
-D

R
G
-C
IV
-0

0
1
0
0
1
.d

g
n

 

Fax:

Tel:

+44 (0)20 8663 5111

+44 (0)20 8663 5000

CR0 0XT

Surrey

Croydon

12-16 Addiscombe Road

No 1 Croydon 

GRAYS PEDESTRIAN 

UNDERPASS

 

 

 

GRIP 2 ACCESS OPTIONS STUDY

3.250

5136078-ATK-DRG-CIV-001001

PRELIMINARY

TLL 19m 70ch

LAND OWNERSHIP

10

 

  

 

SCALE 1:250

NOTES

 

DRAFT

REFERENCE BOUNDARIES AND PARCELS

5
1
3
6
0
7
8
-A

T
K
-D

R
G
-C
IV
-0

0
1
0
0
1

REFERENCING BOUNDARY

PARCEL NUMBERS

PARCELS

BOUNDARY LEGENDS

PLAN

SHEET 2 OF 4

 

H
IG

H
 S

T
R

E
E

T

H
IG

H
 S

T
R

E
E

T

SUBJECT TO CONFIRMATION.
PREFERRED UNDERPASS ACCESS OPTION, BUT THIS IS 
THURROCK COUNCIL HAVE INDICATED THAT OPTION 4 IS THE 
5136078-ATK-DOC-CIV-0001.
REALIGNMENT REFER TO OPTIONS REPORT DOC. REF. 
FOR DETAILS OF UNDERPASS OPTIONS AND CROWN ROAD 

PRIESTLY DATED 23 APRIL 2015.
BY THURROCK COUNCIL. REFER TO EMAIL FROM BRIAN 
LAND BOUNDARIES ARE BASED ON CAD DRAWINGS PROVIDED 

TILES.
BACKGROUND MAPPING IS BASED ON ORDNANCE SURVEY 

NOTES

3.

2.

1.

P
age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank



29 July 2015 ITEM: 8

Planning, Transport, Regeneration Overview  and Scrutiny 
Committee

Local Bus Services

Report of: Cllr Oliver Gerrish, Portfolio Holder, Planning Transportation and 
Regeneration

Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
Key

Accountable Head of Service: Ann Osola, Head of Service, Planning and 
Transportation.

Accountable Director: David Bull, Director of Planning & Transportation

Executive Summary

This report explains the role of local bus services, the legislation under which they 
are provided and how local authorities deliver bus services where they feel the need 
is required.  This report also explains the benefit of transport links to members of the 
community. The recommendations of the committee will form part of the ongoing 
consultation process.

1. Recommendations

1.1 To consider appropriate local bus budget to ensure access to 
employment, healthcare, education, shopping and leisure facilities, 
enabling residents to live independently, minimising the cost of services 
provided by the local authority.

1.2 To consider alternative ways of providing communities with the 
transport services required.

2. Introduction and background

2.1 The provision of public transport is considered important to local communities. 
Local bus, ferry and train services transport residents across the borough and 
beyond for employment, shopping, hospital and medical appointments, 
education establishments including colleges and recreational facilities such as 
leisure centres and swimming pools. Public transport is essential for those 
who have no other means of transport and allows the option of sustainable 
travel for those who choose it, which provides environmental benefits.

2.2 The Transport Act 1985 sets out the legislation under which bus services are 
provided.  Any bus company can operate a route and timetable they choose 

Page 111

Agenda Item 8



and set fare levels.  Services have to be registered with the Traffic 
Commissioner, but this is an automatic process.  A 56 day notice period has 
to be given to introduce, withdraw or amend a service.  Operators will 
therefore adopt a commercial approach to bus service provision over which 
the local authority has no jurisdiction, control or responsibility. These routes 
are often referred to as the commercial network.

2.3 The role of the local authority is to consider the needs the commercial network 
does not meet, and, if it so wishes, supplement the network with additional 
journeys or routes. These routes are known as financially supported services 
and are procured through a process of competitive tendering, although small 
payments can be made directly to operators for minor modifications or 
additions to the commercial network (known as de minimis payments). 

2.4 Without financial support it is unlikely that areas such as Fobbing, East & 
West Tilbury, Bulphan and Horndon on the Hill would have any bus services.
Other areas may not have services at times of low demand.  

2.5 Over recent years discussions have taken place with operators to provide a 
cost effective bus network, minimising the need for supported services. The 
budget had reduced from £835k in 2008/09 to £245k in the current financial 
year, but this level of funding does not provide a service for all communities or 
at a frequency that users consider acceptable. Many local authorities have 
reduced funding for supported bus services in recent years.

2.6 The Council currently has 23,000 pass holders of which 1,578 have a 
disability pass and 521 of those residents require a companion to accompany 
them on their travel.  This is a statutory Government scheme; the financial 
burden of which continues to increase in line with growth in the borough.  Free 
concessionary fares currently cost the Council £1.2 million per annum. Many 
of these pass holders are totally dependent upon local bus services to 
continue their quality of life.

2.7 Thurrock has around 40,000 young people under the age of 18 - representing 
a quarter of the population, many of whom are dependent upon bus services, 
particularly to access education

2.8 Bus services are crucial for many residents to access work, so that they can 
be economically active and reduce dependency on funding met by the public 
sector. For some out of work, a bus service is the only prospect of accessing 
employment and changing their lifestyle

2.9 A consultation is currently being undertaken with users of the three supported 
services which will run until 10th September 2015. 

3. Issues, options and analysis of options

3.1 Many local bus services are essential for combating social isolation. 
Operators will not invest in areas of low patronage since by definition these 

Page 112



services are unlikely to be commercially sustainable. Some communities will 
only receive a local bus service if Thurrock Council provides funding. A 
consultation is currently underway to identify the value of supported bus 
services to the community.

3.2 Other options for providing transport in rural areas include community 
transport schemes, car sharing and taxi schemes.  Many examples of these 
schemes exist around the country, and although they often meet the transport 
needs of certain communities, they tend to rely quite heavily on the use of 
volunteers and can be quite expensive to run. Demand responsive type 
services do not provide the convenience of a local bus service due to the 
need to pre-book.

3.3      Transport Act 1985 section 63. (See appendix 2) sets out the legal 
responsibility of Thurrock Council in relation to bus service provision.

3.4 Ways of maintaining services at reduced cost have characterised the work of 
the passenger transport unit in recent years. This has been achieved by 
discussions with commercial operators, community transport providers and 
other authorities and ensuring directorates understand the role that bus 
services provide in assisting them to meet the needs of service users.

4. Reasons for recommendation

4.1 Buses are vital to those living in communities without any other means of 
transport and enable independent living and crucially reduce calls on other 
public expenditure.

4.2 Commercial operators will not meet all the needs of residents, some of which 
will only have bus services provided with Thurrock Council financial support.

5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable) 

5.1 Bus routes 11, 265, 374 are currently provided by operators with financial 
support from Thurrock Council. A consultation is being undertaken to assess 
the value the community places on these routes. In addition, Section 106 
funding is used to pump prime services to new developments. For route 
details please refer to Appendix 1.

6. Impact on corporate policies, Priorities, Performance and community 
impact

6.1 Passenger Transport contributes towards each of the five strategic priorities of 
the Council, especially to improve the health and well-being of our residents. 
Inadequate funding will lead to various members of our community, especially 
the elderly, being socially excluded. 

7. Implications

7.1 Financial

Page 113



Implications verified by: Mike Jones
Management Accountant

An allocation has been made within the base budget for the provision of local 
bus services.  As the cost of the service following the tendering excises is 
identified, further consideration will be given to the financial implications.

7.2 Legal

Implications verified by:      Daniel Toohey
Principal Solicitor - Contracts & Procurement

The law applicable to this matter, including a discussion on the Highways Act 1985, 
is referred to in the body of this report, and schedules.  

The content of this report is consistent with the provisions of the Council's
Constitution and Local Government Act 2000. The local authority overview 
and scrutiny function was introduced under the Local Government Act 2000, 
giving a clearly defined scrutiny role to non-elected members in holding 
executives of councils to account, and in scrutinising the work of other 
agencies providing local services. A robust and effective scrutiny process is a 
vital component in the ethical health and governance of a local authority 

7.3 Diversity and Equality

Implications verified by: Natalie Warren, Community Development and 
Equalities Manager

A sustainable public transport network ensures that the most vulnerable 
members of the community have fair access to the public realm.  Disabled 
people, in particular, place a high priority on the provision of such services, 
without which can leave them socially isolated.

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Section 17, Risk 
Assessment, Health Impact Assessment, Sustainability, IT, 
Environmental

Not Applicable

Background papers used in preparing this report (include their location and 
identify whether any are exempt or protected by copyright):

 None

Appendices to this report:

Page 114



 Appendix 1 - List of Thurrock Council financially supported routes
 Appendix 2 - Extracts from the Transport Act 1985

Report Author Contact Details:

John Pope
Passenger Transport Team

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1
Thurrock Council financially supported routes,

Route 11
Purfleet Station  Garrison Estate, New Tank Hill Rd, Purfleet Rd Aveley, Mill Rd, 
Romford Rd, Shannon Way,  Teviot Avenue, Usk Rd, Aveley High St, Stifford Rd, 
Foyle Drive, Darenth lane, Daiglen Drive, Avontar Rd, Arisdale Avenue, Ockendon 
Station, West Rd, South Rd, Stifford Hill, (Pilgrims lane, Burghley Rd – 1 trip am / 
pm),  High Rd North Stifford, Stifford Clays Rd, Crammavill St, Fairway, Whitmore 
Avenue, Blackshots Lane, Woodview, Chadwell Rd, Riverview, Brentwood Rd, 
Stanford Rd, Rectory Rd, School Lane, Rowley Rd, High Rd, Rectory Rd, Prince 
Charles Avenue, A128, A13, Basildon Hospital, Basildon Town Centre

Route 265
Station Rd West Horndon, St Marys Lane, Dunnings Lane, Fen Lane, Church Rd, 
A128, Prince Charles Avenue, High Rd, Rowley Rd, Rectory Rd, Prince Charles 
Avenue, Orsett Rd Horndon on the Hill Gordon Rd, Hillcrest Avenue, High Rd, South 
Hill, High Rd, North Hill, B1007, Southend Rd, Victoria Rd, London Rd, Stanford Rd, 
Lodge Lane, Southend Rd, Palmers Avenue, Grays Bus Station

Route 374

Grays, Hathaway Rd, Lodge Lane, Woodview, Chadwell Rd, Riverview, Linford Rd, 
Blue Anchor Lane, Church Rd, Station Rd, Princess Margaret Rd, Buckingham Hill 
Rd, Stanford Rd, London Rd, King St, Southend Rd, Abbotts Drive, The Sorrells, 
Gordon Rd, Springhouse Rd, Giffords Cross Rd, Lampits Hill, Southend Rd, 
Basildon Hospital, Basildon Town Centre

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Extracts from Transport Act 1985 Section 63

Functions of local councils with respect to passenger transport in areas other than 
passenger transport areas.

(1) In each non-metropolitan county of England and Wales it shall be the duty of the 
county council. -
(a) to secure the provision of such public passenger transport services as the council 
consider it appropriate to secure to meet any public transport requirements within the 
county which would not in their view be met apart from any action taken by them for 
that purpose.

(5) For the purpose of securing the provision of any service under subsection (1)(a)  
any council shall have power to enter into an agreement providing for service 
subsidies; but their power to do so— .
(a) Shall be exercisable only where the service in question would not be provided 
without subsidy; and .
(b) Is subject to sections 89 to 92 of this Act. 

(6) A non-metropolitan county council in England and Wales shall have power to 
take any measures that appear to them to be appropriate for the purpose of or in 
connection with promoting, so far as relates to their area— .
(a) The availability of public passenger transport services other than subsidised 
services and the operation of such services, in conjunction with each other and with 
any available subsidised services, so as to meet any public transport requirements 
the council consider it appropriate to meet; or .
(b) The convenience of the public (including persons who are elderly or disabled) in 
using all available public passenger transport services (whether subsidised or not).

(7) It shall be the duty of a county council in exercising their power under subsection 
(6) above, to have regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

(8) It shall be the duty of any council, in exercising or performing any of their 
functions under the preceding provisions of this section, to have regard to the 
transport needs of members of the public who are elderly or disabled.

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



Work Programme

Committee: Planning, Transport & Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Year: 2015/2016

Item Date Added Request By 
(Members/Officers)

Lead Officer Progress / Update required

29 July 2015
Shaping the Council
Budget update (if applicable)

May 2015 Officers Sean Clark

Thames Enterprise Park 
Update

April 2015 Officers Andy Millard

Grays South Update April 2015 Officers Mathew Essex
Report on Local Bus Services May 2015 Officer Ann Osola 
Work Programme Continuous Members/Officers Democratic Services Officer
16 September 2015
Shaping the Council
Budget update (if applicable)

May 2015 Officers Sean Clark

Heritage, Arts & Culture 
Ambitions in Thurrock 

April 2015 Officers Mathew Essex

Work Programme Continuous Members/Officers Democratic Services Officer

4 November 2015 
Shaping the Council
Budget update (if applicable)

May 2015 Officers Sean Clark

Economic Development 
Strategy Update

April 2015 Officers Mathew Essex

Highways Update May 2015 Officers Ann Osola

Work Programme Continuous Members/Officers Democratic Services Officer

20 January 2016
Shaping the Council May 2015 Officers Sean Clark

P
age 121

A
genda Item

 9



Work Programme

Item Date Added Request By 
(Members/Officers)

Lead Officer Progress / Update required

Budget update (if applicable)
Issues and Options – Local 
Plan 

April 2015 Officers Andrew Millard

Lower Thames Crossing April 2015 Officers David Bull & Ann Osola
Investment in Highways 
Lighting

May 2015 Members/Officers David Bull & Ann Osola

Tilbury Programme Update April 2015 Officers Mathew Essex
Work Programme Continuous Members/Officers Democratic Services Officer

2 March 2016
Shaping the Council
Budget update (if applicable)

May 2015 Officers Sean Clark

Work Programme Continuous Members/Officers Democratic Services Officer

To Be Allocated
Item Date Added Request By 

(Members/Officers)
Lead Officer Committee Date 

Full details of Member’s decisions can be viewed in the Minutes on the Council’s Committee Management Information System - 
http://democracy.thurrock.gov.uk/thurrock/     

FOR CONSIDERATION 
There are currently no items for consideration. 

P
age 122

http://democracy.thurrock.gov.uk/thurrock/

	Agenda
	 
	2 Minutes
	5 Terms of Reference
	6 Thames Enterprise Park
	2a. 150519 Final Interim Masterplan Report Appendices

	7 Grays South and Rail Station Regeneration
	1a. Appendix 1 Option 1
	1b. Appendix 1 Option 2
	1c. Appendix 1 Option 3
	1d. Appendix 1 Option 4
	1e. Appendix 2

	8 Local Bus Services
	local bus Appendix 1
	Local bus appendix 2

	9 Work programme

